

K3 surfaces and cubic fourfolds with Abelian motive

Michele Bolognesi, Hanine Awada, Claudio Pedrini

▶ To cite this version:

Michele Bolognesi, Hanine Awada, Claudio Pedrini. K3 surfaces and cubic fourfolds with Abelian motive. 2024. hal-03413172

HAL Id: hal-03413172 https://hal.umontpellier.fr/hal-03413172

Preprint submitted on 19 Mar 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

K3 SURFACES AND CUBIC FOURFOLDS WITH ABELIAN MOTIVE

HANINE AWADA, MICHELE BOLOGNESI, AND CLAUDIO PEDRINI

Abstract. Let \mathcal{C}_d denote Hassett's Noether-Lefschetz divisor in the moduli space of cubic fourfolds given by cubics with intersection form of discriminant d. By imposing certain arithmetic conditions on the indexes d_i , we construct families of rational cubic fourfolds with an associated K3 surface with any prescribed Néron-Severi rank, contained in the intersection $\bigcap \mathcal{C}_{d_i}$ of a finite number of Hassett divisors. Then we apply this result to show that there exist one dimensional families of cubic fourfolds with finite dimensional Chow motive of Abelian type inside every divisor of special cubic fourfolds. This also implies Abelianity and finite dimensionality of the motive of related HyperKähler varieties, such as the Fano variety of lines and the LLSvS 8fold. A similar remark allows us to show the Abelianity of the motive of an infinity of LSV 10folds, and of other HyperKähler 10folds associated to the twisted intermediate Jacobian fibration of cubic fourfolds with an associated K3 surface. After that, starting from certain 4-dimensional families of K3 surfaces, we construct two families of Fano varieties whose motive either contains the finite dimensional motive of a K3 surface, or it is itself finite dimensional. Varieties from the first family are some quadric surface fibrations, and contain the finite dimensional motive of a K3 surface. Varieties from the second family are singular, and their motives are Schur-finite and Abelian in Voevodsky's triangulated category of motives.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Generalities on cubic fourfolds	5
2.1.	Moduli space of cubic fourfolds	5
2.2.	Lattices of cubic fourfolds	5
2.3.	Special cubic fourfolds	6
3.	Intersection of divisors	7
3.1.	Applications	8
4.	Abelianity of the motive of families of cubic fourfolds	9
4.1.	Chow motives of cubic fourfolds and K3 surfaces	9
4.2	The divisor \mathcal{C}_{14}	10
4.3	Construction of the families of cubic foufolds	10
4.4.	Density of cubic fourfolds with Abelian motive	11
4.5	Some remarks on HyperKähler varieties	11
5.	A remark on the finite dimensionality of the motive of the LSV 10 dimensional	
	HyperKähler manifold	13
5.1.	The intermediate Jacobian fibration	13
5.2.	The twisted jacobian fibration	14
6.	K3 surfaces with Abelian Chow motive	14
6.1.	Intersection of three quadrics	15
6.2	Degree six surfaces in \mathbb{P}^4 .	16

1

7. Fano fourfolds with associated K3 surfaces in \mathcal{F} or \mathcal{G}	17
7.1. Fano fourfolds associated to the net of quadrics of an octic K3 s	surface. 17
7.2. Singular cubics and 15-nodal K3 surfaces.	18
7.3. A family of cubic fourfolds with associated 15-nodal, degree six	K3 surface. 20
Appendix A. Lattice theoretic computations.	21
References	30

1. Introduction

Let $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$ be the (covariant) category of Chow motives with \mathbf{Q} -coefficients and let $\mathcal{M}_{rat}^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$ be the strictly full, thick, rigid, tensor subcategory of $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$ generated by the motives of Abelian varieties. All the examples of motives that have been proven to be finite-dimensional, in the sense of Kimura-O'Sullivan, belong to the category $\mathcal{M}_{rat}^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$. More precisely, the following classes of smooth projective varieties are known to have motives belonging to $\mathcal{M}_{rat}^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$:

- (1) projective spaces, Grassmannian varieties, projective homogeneous varieties, toric varieties;
- (2) smooth projective curves;
- (3) Kummer K3 surfaces;
- (4) K3 surfaces with Picard numbers at least 19;
- (5) K3 surfaces with a non-symplectic group of automorphisms acting trivially on the algebraic cycles: K3 surfaces satisfying these conditions have Picard numbers equal to 2, 4, 6, 10, 12, 16, 18, 20, see [48];
- (6) Hilbert schemes of points on Abelian surfaces;
- (7) Fermat hypersurfaces;
- (8) Cubic 3-folds and their Fano surfaces of lines, see [25] and [20].

In this paper, we consider the case of cubic fourfolds, in relation with certain families of K3 surfaces.

According to Kimura's Conjecture on finite dimensional motives and by the results in [5] the Chow motive h(S) of a complex K3 surface S should be of Abelian type. Also, by the work of Kuga and Satake, if one assumes the Hodge conjecture, every K3 surface over \mathbf{C} is of Abelian Hodge type, i.e. there exists an algebraic correspondence between any K3 surface S and an associated Abelian variety, the Kuga-Satake variety K(S). This would imply that the motive of any such K3 surface is Abelian, i.e. it lies in the subcategory $\mathcal{M}_{rat}^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$ of the (covariant) category $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$ of Chow motives generated by the motives of curves. On the other hand, cubic fourfolds have been a very active field of research in the last few years, for several reasons. The rationality of the generic cubic is a very classical, and still unanswered, question in algebraic geometry. A lot of energy has been spent in order to find a good invariant that would detect the required birational properties, and tentatives have been made via Hodge theory, derived categories, Chow motives, algebraic cycles, etc. In most of these papers K3 surfaces appear as an important presence (in the cohomology, derived category, related HyperKähler varieties, ...) whenever the cubic fourfolds are rational, or suspected to be rational.

Hassett [28] introduced the notion of "special" cubic fourfold, that is a cubic that contains an algebraic surface not homologous to a complete intersection. These fourfolds form a countable infinite union of divisors C_d called Hassett's Noether-Lefschetz divisors (for short Hassett divisors) inside the moduli space C of smooth cubic fourfolds, which is a 20-dimensional quasi-projective

variety. Hassett showed that C_d is irreducible and nonempty if and only if $d \geq 8$ and $d \equiv 0, 2$ [6]. Only few C_d have been defined explicitly in terms of surfaces contained in a general element of these divisors (see [28], [27], [50], [49], [3], [16]). More recently, the first and second named authors have deployed similar techniques to study the birational geometry of universal cubics over certain divisors C_d [10]. Hassett [28] proved that, for an infinite set of values of d, one can associate a polarized K3 surface (S, f) of degree d to a cubic fourfold in C_d . This is true for d satisfying $4 \nmid d, 9 \nmid d$, and $p \nmid d$ for any odd prime number $p \equiv 2$ [3], and the association between a cubic X and S is essentially an isomorphism of Hodge structures between certain subgroups of their middle cohomologies (see Sect. 2). A natural conjecture, supported by Hassett's Hodge theoretical work ([28], [27], [29]) and Kuznetsov's derived categorical work [34], is that any rational cubic fourfold ought to have an associated K3 surface. A link between rationality and the transcendental motive of a cubic fourfold has also been described in [15]. For now, every fourfold in C_{14} , C_{26} , C_{38} and C_{42} has been proved to be rational (see [16], [50], [49]). These cubics all have an associated K3 surface.

Several recent papers [27, 3, 8, 9] study the intersection of couples of Hassett divisors in the moduli space, especially with applications to rationality. In particular, Yang and Yu [63] proved that any two Hassett divisors intersect, and more recently [64] that all Hassett divisors intersect. The first result of this paper lies in a similar frame of ideas, but it aims rather at constructing cubic fourfold with associated K3 surfaces with prescribed Néron-Severi lattice. Using lattice theoretical computations and a result of [63], we are able to prove the following:

Theorem 1.1. Let $3 \le n \le 20$, and C_{d_1}, \ldots, C_{d_n} n different Hassett divisors. Let us set $d_k \ge 8$, $d_k \equiv 0, 2 \pmod{6}$ and $d_3, \ldots, d_n = 6 \prod_i p_i^2$ or $6 \prod_i p_i^2 + 2$, p_i a prime number, then:

- (1) There exist families of cubic fourfolds $\mathcal{F} \subseteq \bigcap_{k=1}^n \mathcal{C}_{d_k} \neq \emptyset$, of dimension 20 n, such that for any cubic fourfold $X \in \mathcal{F}$ has $rk(A(X)) \geq n + 1$ (and rk(A(X)) = n + 1 for the generic one).
- (2) In addition, if at least one of the divisors C_{d_k} in the intersection parametrizes cubic fourfolds with an associated K3 surface, then cubic fourfolds in the families \mathcal{F} have an associated K3 surface with a Néron-Severi group of rank greater than or equal to n.

At least one of these 20 divisors can be chosen in a way such that its cubics have associated polarized K3 surface. This implies that, if one of the divisors has this feature, cubics in the intersection of the 20 divisors have an associated K3 with Néron-Severi group of rank 20, those that lie in the intersection of 19 divisors have associated K3 with rank 19 and so on.

In fact, few examples of cubic fourfolds belonging to the category $\mathcal{M}_{rat}^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$ are known, mainly due to the beautiful work of Laterveer [39, 38, 37, 40]. Moreover, one would be interested to understand how these cubics are positioned in the geography of the moduli space, that is whether they belong to any of the divisors \mathcal{C}_d . In the second part of this paper, we start to fill these gaps, by constructing one dimensional families of cubic fourfolds with finite dimensional, Abelian motive. Moreover, these families are quite ubiquitous in the moduli space, since any Hassett divisor contains an infinity of them.

The construction of these families is basically the combination of three ingredients. First, the intersection theoretical machinery developed in the first part of the paper, notably Thm. 1.1, allows us to construct one dimensional families of cubic fourfolds with associated K3 surfaces with NS rank 19. These families can be arbitrarly constructed inside any Hassett divisor. Then, we

combine this with results of the second and third named authors [15] and Bülles [17], about the Chow-Künneth decomposition of the Chow motive of a cubic fourfold X. These allow us to reduce the finite dimensionality and Abelianity of h(X) to the same properties of the associated K3 surface. Finally we apply results of the third named author [48] to obtain our second main theorem:

Theorem 1.2. Every Hassett divisor C_d contains a countable infinity of one dimensional families of cubic fourfolds, whose Chow motive is finite dimensional and Abelian.

Remark 1.3. We observe that our construction allows us to construct some families of cubics, with properties as in Thm. 1.2, whose members are all rational. If Kuznetsov's conjecture [34] about the rationality of cubic fourfolds holds true, all the families we can construct would be made up of rational cubic fourfolds.

Remark 1.4. It is not hard to show, and we do so in Sect. 4.4, that cubic fourfolds with finite dimensional motive are dense for the complex topology inside Hassett divisors.

As a consequence of our Theorem 1.2 we will also observe the finite dimensionality and Abelianity of the motives of certain related HyperKähler varieties, namely the Fano variety F(X) of lines contained in a cubic fourfold X, and the Lehn-Lehn-Sorger-van Straten 8fold L(X) constructed in [42].

In Section 5 we proceed our study of motives of HyperKähler varieties. By combining results from Laza-Saccà-Voisin, Floccari-Fu-Zhang and some observations about the topology of C_{14} from [16], we show the existence of an infinity of examples of Laza-Saccà-Voisin HyperKähler 10-folds with finite dimensional and Abelian Chow motive. Adding to the picture some recent results of Li-Pertusi-Zhao [43] about stability conditions on the Kuznetsov component of the derived category of cubic fourfolds, we manage to show the same result for the twisted version of the HyperKähler 10fold, introduced by Voisin [62]. For the twisted version we find an infinite number of examples in each divisor C_d where cubic fourfolds have associated K3 surfaces.

In the two last sections of the paper, we somehow do reverse engineering. Starting from two explicit examples of families \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} of K3 surfaces, we manage to construct two families of Fano fourfolds, whose motives have remarkable properties.

The Fano fourfolds from the first family are smooth, notably they are quadric surface fibrations over \mathbb{P}^2 . The relation with K3 surfaces is given by the Chow-Künneth decomposition of the motive of a quadric fibration due to Vial [58], and some results of Kuznetsov and Căldăraru. The corresponding K3 surfaces are in fact a 4-dimensional family \mathcal{F} of smooth octic surfaces in \mathbb{P}^5 , that are complete intersections of 3 quadrics (with particularly simple equations) in \mathbb{P}^5 . Notably Q_1, Q_2, Q_3 are hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^5 [24, 10.2], whose equations are

$$\sum_{0 \le i \le 5} a_i x_i^2 = 0; \sum_{0 \le i \le 5} b_i x_i^2 = 0; \sum_{0 \le i \le 5} c_i x_i^2 = 0,$$

with complex parameters a_i, b_i, c_i and $i = 0, \dots, 5$. See Sect. 6.1 for details.

Theorem 1.5. Let S be a general smooth K3 surface in \mathcal{F} and let Q_1, Q_2 and Q_3 be the three quadrics in \mathbb{P}^5 cutting out S. Let $Q' \to \mathbb{P}^2$ be the quadric surface fibration obtained as hyperbolic reduction of the quadric fourfold fibration $Q \to \mathbb{P}^2$ defined by the quadrics Q_i . Then h(S)(1) is a finite dimensional submotive of h(Q').

Hyperbolic reduction is a classical way to obtain a quadric fibration of relative dimension n-2, starting from a quadric fibration of relative dimension n with a section. See Sect. 6 for more details.

The fourfolds from the second family are singular cubics, hence rational. For any cubic X of this family, there exists in fact a birational map $\psi_X : \mathbb{P}^4 \dashrightarrow X$ given by the full linear system of cubics through one 15-nodal, sextic K3 surface in \mathbb{P}^4 (see Sect. 7.3). Let us denote by \mathcal{G} the family of these sextic surfaces; it is not hard to see that it is 4-dimensional. The motive of a desingularization of such a surface has been recently proven to be finite dimensional and of Abelian type [31]. This, combined with some not difficult birational transformations, allows us to show that the motive of the corresponding cubic fourfold is Schur-finite inside Voevodsky's triangulated category of motives $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathcal{C})$.

Theorem 1.6. Let S be any surface from the family \mathcal{G} , and X the cubic fourfold obtained via ψ_X , then X has Schur finite motive in $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathcal{C})$, belonging to the subcategory $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}^{Ab}$, generated by the motives of curves.

Special families of cubic foufolds with the same property have been described by R. Laterveer in [38] and [37]

When needed, computations were done using Macaulay2 [26] and Sagemath [56].

Plan of the paper: In Section 2, we recall some generalities about the moduli space of cubic fourfolds. In Section 3, based on some lattice theoretical computations, we study the intersection of Hassett divisors proving Theorem 1.1. Most of the proofs of this section are contained in the final Appendix. In Section 4, we start by recalling some results about the Chow motives of cubic fourfolds and K3 surfaces. Then, by using also results from Sect. 3, we prove Theorem 1.2 and a couple of similar results about HyperKähler varieties. In Sect. 5 we recall that every K3 surface S in the first family F has a motive of Abelian type and there is a Kuga-Satake correspondence between h(S) and the motive of a Prym variety P of dimension 4. Then we describe the second family G of K3 surfaces S in \mathbb{P}^4 with 15 nodes and show that the motive of a desingularization of S is of Abelian type. In Sect. 6 we show how to construct cubic fourfolds from K3 surfaces from the families F and G, and show that their motives are of Abelian type as well.

We would like to thank Asher Auel, Igor Dolgachev, Lie Fu, Alice Garbagnati, Bert Van Geemen, Michael Hoff, Robert Laterveer, Giulia Saccà, Sandro Verra and Charles Vial for very appreciated conversations and suggestions about the topics of this paper.

2. Generalities on cubic fourfolds

- 2.1. Moduli space of cubic fourfolds. A cubic fourfold X is a smooth complex cubic hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^5 . The coarse moduli space of cubic fourfolds \mathcal{C} is a 20-dimensional quasi-projective variety. It can be described as a GIT quotient $\mathcal{C} := \mathcal{U}//PGL(6, \mathbb{C})$, where \mathcal{U} is the Zariski open subset of $|\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^5}(3)|$ parametrizing smooth cubic hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^5 .
- 2.2. Lattices of cubic fourfolds. The cohomology of cubic fourfolds is torsion-free and the middle cohomology $H^4(X,\mathbb{Z})$ is the one containing nontrivial information about the geometry of X (see [13]). Let L be the cohomology group $H^4(X,\mathbb{Z})$, known as the cohomology lattice, and $L_{prim} = H^4(X,\mathbb{Z})_{prim} := \langle h^2 \rangle^{\perp}$, the primitive cohomology lattice, with h the class of a hyperplane section of X. Hassett [28] computed explicitly these lattices as follows:

$$L \simeq E_8^1 \bigoplus E_8^2 \bigoplus U^1 \bigoplus U^2 \bigoplus I_{3,0}$$

$$\simeq (+1)^{\bigoplus 21} \bigoplus (-1)^{\bigoplus 2},$$

$$L_{prim} \simeq E_8^1 \bigoplus E_8^2 \bigoplus U^1 \bigoplus U^2 \bigoplus A_2.$$

Let us explain shortly the notation used in the formulas here above:

(1) $I_{3,0}$ is a rank 3 lattice whose bilinear form is the identity matrix of rank 3 with

$$h^2 = (1, 1, 1) \in I_{3,0};$$

(2) E_8^1 and E_8^2 are two copies of E_8 , the unimodular positive definite even rank 8 lattice associated to the corresponding Dynkin diagram represented by the following matrix in the basis $\langle t_k^i \rangle$, for k = 1, ..., 8, i = 1, 2:

$$E_8 = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 2 & -1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 2 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 2 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & 2 \end{pmatrix};$$

(3) U^1 and U^2 are two copies of the hyperbolic plane $U = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, the basis of U^k consists of vectors e_1^k and e_2^k , k = 1, 2 such that

$$(e_1^k, e_1^k) = 0, (e_1^k, e_2^k) = 1, (e_2^k, e_2^k) = 0;$$

(4) A_2 is a rank 2 lattice with bilinear form $\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$ in the canonical basis $\langle a_1, a_2 \rangle$.

These notations will be useful later in the paper for lattice computations.

2.3. **Special cubic fourfolds.** Hassett ([28], [27]) studied cubic fourfolds via Hodge theory and introduced the notion of *special* cubic fourfolds, that is those containing an algebraic surface whose cohomology class is linearly independent of h^2 , where h is the class of a hyperplane section. Let $A(X) = H^4(X, \mathbb{Z}) \cap H^{2,2}(X)$ be the positive definite lattice of integral middle Hodge classes that coincides with $CH_2(X)$ the Chow group of 2-cycles on X. Since the integral Hodge conjecture holds for cubic fourfolds (see [60]), X is *special* if and only if the rank of A(X) is at least 2.

Definition 2.1. A labelling of a special cubic fourfold is a rank 2 saturated sublattice $K_d \subseteq A(X)$ containing h^2 . Its discriminant d is the determinant of the intersection form on K_d .

Special cubic fourfolds with labelling of discriminant d form a countably infinite union of divisors $\mathcal{C}_d \subset \mathcal{C}$, called Hassett divisors. Hassett[28, Theorem 1.0.1] showed that \mathcal{C}_d is irreducible and nonempty if and only if $d \geq 8$ and $d \equiv 0, 2$ [6] (*). Moreover, Hassett described how, in certain cases, one can associate to a cubic fourfold a K3 surface. More precisely, there exists a polarized K3 surface S of degree d such that $K_d^{\perp} \subset H^4(X,\mathbb{Z})$ is Hodge-isometric to $H^2_{prim}(S,\mathbb{Z})(-1)$ if and only if d is not divisible by 4, 9, or any odd prime number $p \equiv 2$ [3] (*').

Moreover, for infinitely many values of d, and for the generic cubic fourfold $X \in \mathcal{C}_d$, the Fano variety F(X) of lines on the cubic fourfold is isomorphic to the Hilbert scheme of length two subschemes $S^{[2]}$ of the associated K3 surface S. This holds if $d = 2(n^2 + n + 1)$ for an integer $n \geq 2$.

In the next section we will proceed with the lattice theoretical computations that will show the existence of cubic fourfolds with associated K3 of any Néron-Severi rank.

3. Intersection of divisors

In this section, we will study properties of cubics inside the intersection of Hassett divisors $C_d \in C$. Recall that the Hassett divisor $C_d \in C$ is an irreducible and nonempty divisor if and only if

$$d \ge 8 \text{ and } d \equiv 0, 2[6]$$
 (*).

In particular, we will set the discriminants d_k for which the intersection $\bigcap_k \mathcal{C}_{d_k}$ contains special families of cubic fourfolds with prescribed rank of A(X). First of all we recall two interesting facts, proved recently by Yang and Yu.

Proposition 3.1. [63, Theorem 3.1] Any two Hassett divisors intersect i.e $C_{d_1} \cap C_{d_2} \neq \emptyset$ for any integers d_1 and d_2 satisfying (*).

Theorem 3.2. [64, Thm. 1.2] The intersection of all Hassett divisors is non-empty and contains the Fermat cubic fourfold.

Remark 3.3. If X is a cubic fourfold in $C_{d_1} \cap C_{d_2}$, then there exists infinitely many divisors C_d containing X. In fact, A(X) is a rank 3 lattice generated by h^2 and both surfaces S_1 and S_2 defining respectively C_{d_1} and C_{d_2} . For every vector u in the sublattice $\langle S_1, S_2 \rangle$, $u^{\perp} \subset A(X)$ is of rank 2. This defines a labelling (thus a divisor containing X), and moving u appropriately we obtain as many different labellings as we want.

We denote by (**) the following condition on the discriminant d:

$$(**) \quad d = 6 \prod_i p_i^2 \text{ or } d = 6 \prod_i p_i^2 + 2, \text{ where } p_i \text{ is a prime number}.$$

(Prime numbers appearing in previous formulas are not necessarily distinct)

For sake of simplicity, the proof of the Theorem 1.1 will be divided into different steps. First, in Lemma 3.4, we construct a dimension 17 family of cubics inside the intersection of any three divisors C_{d_1} , C_{d_2} and C_{d_3} for d_1 , d_2 and d_3 satisfying (*) and d_3 satisfying (**) as well. The proof is divided into 4 parts covering all possible cases, depending on the values of the discriminants. Then in Prop. 3.5 we construct the required families of cubics inside $\bigcap_{1 \le k \le n} C_{d_k}$, for any $1 \le n \le 20$, for a particular choice of the integers d_k . Finally in Theorem 3.6 we prove the full statement of Theorem 1.1. In order to preserve the readability of the paper, and since the proofs of some of these results involve heavy computations, we collected their proofs in the Appendix at the end of the paper.

Lemma 3.4. For any integers d_1, d_2, d_3 satisfying (*) such that d_3 satisfies (**), $C_{d_1} \cap C_{d_2} \cap C_{d_3}$ contains a 17 dimensional family \mathcal{H}_3 of cubic fourfolds, such that all $X \in \mathcal{H}_3$ has $rk(A(X)) \geq 4$, and the generic cubic has rk(A(X)) = 4.

In the following proposition, using a strategy similar to the one developed in the previous Lemma, but assuming that all discriminants verify $d_k \equiv 0$ [6], we prove that analogous families exist inside the intersection of up to 20 divisors C_{d_k} in C.

Proposition 3.5. Assume that $\forall d_k \equiv 0[6]$ and that $d_3,...,d_{20} = 6\prod_i p_i^2$, for some prime numbers

 p_i . Then, for $4 \le n \le 20$ the intersection $\bigcap_{k=1}^n \mathcal{C}_{d_k}$ contains a family \mathcal{H}_n of dimension 20-n of cubic fourfolds, whose generic member has rk(A(X)) = 1+n, and all $X \in \mathcal{H}_n$ have $rk(A(X)) \ge 1+n$

Next Theorem is our first main Theorem 1.1. Its proof is again divided into multiple cases. In fact, Lemma 3.4 and Proposition 3.5 are particular cases of the next theorem, which generalizes them. In this theorem, we will showcase families of cubics inside the intersection of up to 20 divisors C_{d_i} , whenever $d_i \equiv 0, 2[6]$, for all i. Also its proof is contained in the Appendix.

Theorem 3.6. Let d_k be positive integers indexes satisfying (*) and let $d_3,..,d_{20}=6\prod p_i^2$ or

 $6\prod_{i}p_{i}^{2}+2$, with p_{i} prime numbers. Let us set $1 \leq n \leq 20$. Then, inside $\bigcap_{k=1}^{n} \mathcal{C}_{d_{k}}$, there exist a family \mathcal{H}_{n} of dimension 20-n of cubics, whose generic element has rk(A(X))=1+n, and s.t. all $X \in \mathcal{H}_{n}$ have $rk(A(X)) \geq 1+n$.

3.1. Applications.

3.1.1. Lower Néron-Severi ranks. In the constructions of the preceding section, one can choose all these 20 divisors in a way such that cubic fourfolds inside the intersection have associated K3 surfaces.

Corollary 3.7. Suppose that we are under the hypotheses of Thm 3.6 and that at least one of the divisors C_{d_k} parametrizes cubic fourfolds with an associated K3 surface. Let \mathcal{H}_n denote the family of dimension 20-n of cubic fourfolds inside $\bigcap_{k=1}^{n} C_{d_k}$ constructed in the preceding section. Then, the generic cubic fourfold in \mathcal{H}_n has associated K3 of Néron-Severi rank equal to n.

Proof. Generically the cubic fourfolds inside $\mathcal{H}_n \subset \bigcap_{k=1}^n \mathcal{C}_{d_k}$ have rk(A(X)) = n+1, hence the primitive cohomology of the associated K3 surface has rank n-1, and the Néron-Severi group has rank n.

In particular, the family \mathcal{H}_{19} inside the nonempty intersection of 19 divisors in \mathcal{C} is a curve that intersects infinitely many other divisors. If one of the 19 divisors parametrizes cubics with an associated K3 surface, then all the cubics in the family \mathcal{H}_{19} have associated singular K3 surfaces. As it is well known, this means that the NS rank of the associated K3 is 19 or 20.

3.1.2. Fano varieties of lines. As we already said in 2.3, for a generic cubic fourfold $X \in \mathcal{C}_d$ such that $d = 2(n^2 + n + 1)$ where n is an integer ≥ 2 , we have that $F(X) \cong S^{[2]}$. We observe that, if we take $d_1 = 14$ in Cor. 3.7, the examples in the intersection that we produce in Corollary 3.7 verify this isomorphism.

The singular K3 surface associated to cubic fourfolds X as in Corollary 3.7 admits a Shioda-Inose structure. In particular, there is a birational map from the K3 surface to a Kummer surface which is the quotient of a product-type Abelian variety by an involution (see [46], [52]). This implies that F(X) is birational to the Hilbert scheme of length two subschemes of a Kummer surface.

4. Abelianity of the motive of families of cubic fourfolds

In this section, we will mention first some recent results about Chow motives of cubic fourfolds and K3 surfaces. Then we will combine them with the intersection theoretical results from the preceding section to construct families of cubic fourfolds with finite dimensional Chow motive of Abelian type.

4.1. Chow motives of cubic fourfolds and K3 surfaces. The first result we need to recall from [15] is the existence of a Chow-Künneth decomposition for the motive of the cubic fourfold X. Namely, we have

(1)
$$h(X) = \mathbf{1} \oplus \mathbf{L} \oplus (\mathbf{L}^2)^{\rho_2(X)} \oplus t(X) \oplus \mathbf{L}^3 \oplus \mathbf{L}^4,$$

where $\rho_2(X) = \text{rank}(CH_2(X))$, with $CH_2(X) \subset H^4(X,\mathbb{Z})$, and t(X) is the transcendental motive of X, i.e. the realization functor gives $H^*(t(X)) = H^4_{tr}(X, \mathbf{Q})$.

Let now X be a special cubic fourfold contained in a divisor C_d . In [17], Bülles shows that for certain values of d, there exists a K3 surface S such that

$$(2) t(X) \simeq t_2(S)(1).$$

Here $t_2(S)$ is the transcendental motive of S, i.e.

$$h(S) = \mathbf{1} \oplus \mathbf{L}^{\rho(S)} \oplus t_2(S) \oplus \mathbf{L}^2,$$

where $\rho(S)$ is the rank of the Néron-Severi group NS(S). More precisely, the isomorphism (2) holds whenever d satisfies the following numerical condition

$$(***): \exists f, g \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ with } g|(2n^2 + 2n + 2) \ n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } d = f^2g.$$

Therefore, in this case, $h(X) \in \mathcal{M}^{Ab}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$ if and only if $h(S) \in \mathcal{M}^{Ab}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$. Note that an isomorphism $t(X) \simeq t_2(S)(1)$ can never hold if X is not special, i.e. if $\rho_2(X) = 1$, see [15, Prop.3.4]. Remark moreover that d = 14 satisfies (***) with f = 1, n = 2 and g = 14.

On the other hand, finite dimensionality of motives of K3 surfaces has been addressed in [48]. In particular the following is proved:

Theorem 4.1. Let S be a smooth complex projective K3 surface with $\rho(S) = 19, 20$. Then the motive $h(S) \in \mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$ is finite dimensional and lies in the subcategory $\mathcal{M}_{rat}^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$.

- 4.2. The divisor C_{14} . In the rest of this section, we will need to consider a particular Hassett divisor in order to construct families of cubic fourfolds with associated K3 surface. It is the divisor C_{14} . This divisor can be defined mainly in three different ways, let us recall them.
- (i) as the closure in \mathcal{C} of the locus of Pfaffian cubic fourfolds, i.e. cubics defined by the Pfaffian of a 6×6 alternating matrix of linear forms.
 - (ii) as the closure of the locus of cubics containing a del Pezzo quintic surface;
 - (iii) as the closure of the locus of cubics containing a quartic scroll.

The three descriptions are strictly related (see [13, 16, 29]). All cubics in C_{14} have an associated genus 8 K3 surface, and they are all rational [16].

4.3. Construction of the families of cubic foufolds. Applying the previous results, we give now the proof of the following theorem:

Theorem 4.2. Every Hassett divisor C_d contains a one dimensional family of cubic fourfolds, whose Chow motive is finite dimensional and Abelian.

Proof. Let us consider $C_d \subset C$ any divisor of special cubic fourfolds. By Theorem 3.6, we can chose appropriately 17 divisors $C_{d_1}, \ldots C_{d_{17}}$ such that the intersection

$$\mathcal{C}_d \cap \mathcal{C}_{14} \cap (\bigcap_{k=1}^{17}) \mathcal{C}_{d_k}$$

contains a one dimensional family \mathcal{B} of cubic fourfolds with special intersection theoretical features. First, \mathcal{B} is an algebraic subvariety of \mathcal{C}_d , that is, a family of cubic fourfolds of discriminant d. On the other hand, by construction, the family \mathcal{B} is also contained in \mathcal{C}_{14} , hence all the cubics in \mathcal{B} have an associated K3 surface. Moreover, by the results of Section 3, we observe that cubic fourfolds in \mathcal{B} have associated K3 surfaces with Néron-Severi rank $\rho(S) \geq 19$. More precisely: the generic cubic fourfold in \mathcal{B} has an associated K3 surface with $\rho(S) = 19$; the intersection points of \mathcal{B} with certain further Hassett divisors represent cubic fourfolds whose associated K3 surface has $\rho(S) = 20$. By Thm. 4.1 the Chow motives of these K3 surfaces are finite dimensional and Abelian. Now we need to evoke the isomorphism of Eq. 2. The divisor \mathcal{C}_{14} is among those whose cubic fourfolds have Chow motive that decomposes as follows

$$h(X) = \mathbf{1} \oplus \mathbf{L} \oplus (\mathbf{L}^2)^{\rho_2(X)} \oplus t_2(S)(1) \oplus \mathbf{L}^3 \oplus \mathbf{L}^4,$$

where $t_2(S)$ is the transcendental part of the motive h(S) of the associated K3 surface. Now, if the motive of the associated K3 surface is finite dimensional or Abelian, then also the motive of the cubic fourfold has the same property. This means in turn that, by Thm. 4.1, all the cubics in \mathcal{B} have finite dimensional and Abelian Chow motive, since the associated K3 surfaces have Néron-Severi group of rank bigger or equal to 19.

Remark 4.3. Let us point out that, since all the family \mathcal{B} is contained in \mathcal{C}_{14} , then, by results of [16], all cubic fourfolds in \mathcal{B} are rational.

In the proof of Thm. 4.2, we chose C_{14} for simplicity, since it is the first of the series that has d verifying condition (* * *), and where cubics have associated K3 surfaces. Any other divisor C_t obeying (* * *), such that cubics in C_t have associated K3 surfaces, would have worked. Hence we can say even more.

Corollary 4.4. Every Hassett divisor \mathcal{C}_d contains a countable infinity of one dimensional families of cubic fourfolds, whose Chow motive is finite dimensional and Abelian.

Proof. Just consider, in (***), f=1 and $g=2n^2+2n+2$, for any $n\in\mathbb{N}$. This gives an infinite series of values of d, such that cubics in \mathcal{C}_d have associated K3 surfaces.

4.4. Density of cubic fourfolds with Abelian motive. More generally, let \mathcal{G}_d the moduli space of polarized K3 surfaces of degree d. This is a quasi-projective 19-dimensional algebraic variety.

Theorem 4.5. Let d be not divisible by 4, 9, or any odd prime number $p \equiv 2$ [3]. Then there exists a countable, dense (in the complex topology) set of points in a non-empty Zariski open subset inside C_d such that the corresponding fourfolds have finite dimensional Chow motive.

Proof. Let $X \in \mathcal{C}_d$, for d in the range of the claim here above. That is: X has one (or two, see [28]) associated polarized K3 surface S_X in $\mathcal{G}_{\frac{d+2}{2}}$. Then the map

(3)
$$\mathcal{G}_{\frac{d+2}{2}} \rightarrow \mathcal{C}_d;$$
 (4) $S_X \mapsto X;$

$$(4) S_X \mapsto X;$$

is rational and dominant. Hence, if d is in the range here above, there exists an open set \mathcal{U}_d of \mathcal{C}_d such that for every $X \in \mathcal{U}_d$ there exists a K3 surface S_X of degree d associated to X. We observe also that singular K3 surfaces form a (countable) subset of the moduli space $\mathcal{G}_{\frac{d+2}{2}}$ which is dense in the complex topology. The proof of this fact goes along the same lines as the proof of the density of all K3 surfaces in the period domain (see [12, Corollary VIII.8.5]). By the dominance of the map in (3), this directly implies the claim. П

4.5. Some remarks on HyperKähler varieties. In this section, we draw consequences on Abelianity and finite dimensionality of the motive of some HyperKähler varieties related to cubic fourfolds from the preceding results.

Notably, we will consider F(X) - the Fano variety of lines - and L(X) - the 8-fold constructed in [42] from the space of twisted cubic curves on a cubic fourfold not containing a plane. The 4-dimensional F(X) is deformation equivalent to the Hilbert scheme $S^{[2]}$, with S a K3 surface, while L(X) is deformation equivalent to $S^{[4]}$. For every even complex dimension 2n there are two known deformations classes of irreducible holomorphic symplectic varieties: the Hilbert scheme $S^{[n]}$ of n-points on a K3 surface S and the generalized Kummer. A generalized Kummer variety Y is of the form $Y = K^n(A) = a^{-1}(0)$, where A is an Abelian surface and $a: A^{[n+1]} \to A$ is the Albanese map. In dimension 10 there is also an example, usually referred as OG10, discovered by O'Grady. The HyperKähler variety OG10 is not deformation equivalent to $S^{[5]}$.

Let $\mathcal{M}_A(\mathbf{C})$ be the category of André motives which is obtained from the category of homological motives $\mathcal{M}_{hom}(\mathbf{C})$ by formally adjoining the Lefschetz involutions $*_L$ associated to the Lefschetz isomorphisms $L^{d-i}: H^i(X) \to H^{2d-i}(X)$, where L^{d-i} is induced by the hyperplane section. By the Standard Conjecture B(X), for every $i \leq d$ there exists an algebraic correspondence inducing the isomorphism $H^{2d-i}(X) \to H(X)$ inverse to L^{d-i} . Therefore, under B(X) the category of André motives coincides with $\mathcal{M}_{hom}(\mathbf{C})$. The André motive of a K3 surface S and of a cubic fourfold X belong to the full subcategory $\mathcal{M}_A^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$ generated by the motives of Abelian varieties, see [5, 10.2.4.1].

In [53] it is proved that the André motive of a HyperKähler variety which is deformation equivalent to $S^{[n]}$ lies in $\mathcal{M}_A^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$. Soldatenkov [54] proves that if X_1 and X_2 are deformation equivalent projective HyperKähler manifolds then the André motive of X_1 is Abelian if and only if the André motive of X_2 is Abelian. In a recent preprint (see [21]) it is proved that also the André motive of OG10 lies in $\mathcal{M}_A^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$. Therefore the André motives of all the known deformation classes of HyperKähler varieties lie in $\mathcal{M}_A^{Ab}(\mathbf{C})$. These results suggest the following conjecture:

Conjecture 4.6. The motive of a HyperKähler manifold is of Abelian type in $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$.

By [19, Sect. 6], the Hilbert scheme $S^{[n]}$ of a K3 surface with finite dimensional (or Abelian) motive has finite dimensional (or Abelian) motive. Now, recall that our family \mathcal{B} of cubic fourfolds from Thm. 4.2 entirely lies in \mathcal{C}_{14} . Moreover, for all cubics X in \mathcal{C}_{14} , we have an birational map $F(X) \sim S^{[2]}$ [28], where S is the associated K3 surface. Since birational HyperKähler varieties have isomorphic Chow motives, it is straightforward to check that we have the following:

Proposition 4.7. All HyperKähler fourfolds F(X), $X \in \mathcal{B}$, have finitely generated and Abelian Chow motive.

Remark 4.8. Once again, we can play the same game as before by taking $C_{\frac{2n^2+2n+2}{a^2}}$, $n, a \in \mathbb{Z}$, instead of C_{14} . By [1, Thm. 2], having $d = \frac{2n^2+2n+2}{a^2}$ is equivalent to having a birational equivalence between F(X) and the Hilbert square of the associated K3 surface. Hence, everything runs the same way, and we have a countably infinite set of families of Fano varieties F(X) with finite dimensional and Abelian motive, whose cubic fourfolds all lie in a fixed C_d .

On the other hand, let us now consider the HyperKähler 8fold L(X). In order to define properly L(X), we need to assume that X does not contain a plane, i.e. $X \notin \mathcal{C}_8$. Then, the analogue of Prop. 4.7 is the following:

Proposition 4.9. All HyperKähler 8folds L(X), $X \in \mathcal{B}$, have finitely generated and Abelian Chow motive.

Proof. Let $X \in \mathcal{C}_d$ be a cubic fourfold not containing a plane, and S its associated K3 surface. In [2, Thm. 3] the authors show that the 8fold L(X) is birational to $S^{[4]}$ if and only if

$$(***')$$
 $d = \frac{6n^2 + 6n + 2}{a^2}, n, a \in \mathbb{Z}.$

The first integer of the list is once again 14, hence for all the cubic fourfolds of our family \mathcal{B} we have $L(X) \stackrel{birat}{\cong} S^{[4]}$. Since birational HyperKähler varieties have isomorphic Chow motives, the results from [19] complete the proof, and we have a one-dimensional family of L(X) with finite dimensional and Abelian motive for all \mathcal{C}_d , with $d \neq 8$.

Remark 4.10. In fact, we observe that d = 14 verifies both condition (***) (with f = 1) and (***') (with n = a = 1). This means that for cubic fourfolds X in \mathcal{B} both F(X) and L(X) 8folds have finite dimensional and Abelian motive.

- 5. A remark on the finite dimensionality of the motive of the LSV 10 dimensional HyperKähler manifold
- 5.1. The intermediate Jacobian fibration. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^5$ be a smooth cubic fourfold, and $\mathcal{J}(X)$ the 10 dimensional HyperKähler manifold constructed in [41]. The variety $\mathcal{J}(X)$ is a compactification of the fibration over \mathbb{P}^{5*} , whose fibers are the intermediate Jacobians of the hyperplane sections of X, and it is deformation equivalent to O'Grady ten dimensional example OG10 [41, Cor. 6.3].

Let X be a Pfaffian cubic fourfold. Recall from a lot of references ([13, 35, 28]) that the K3 surface associated to a Pfaffian cubic is the "orthogonal" section of the Grassmannian G(2,6). Let W be a 6 dimensional vector space. If X is a pfaffian cubic defined by choosing a 6 dimensional vector space V and an embedding $\mathbb{P}(V) \subset \mathbb{P}(\wedge^2 W^*)$, then we can consider the 9 dimensional annihilator V^{\perp} in $\wedge^2(W)$. The projectivized \mathbb{P}^8 cuts out a degree 14 K3 S from the G(2,6) that naturally lives in $\mathbb{P}(\wedge^2 W)$, and S is the K3 associated to X.

An argument similar to those appearing in the preceding section will allow us to show that there exist several examples of $\mathcal{J}(X)$ with finite dimensional, Abelian Chow motive. First of all we need to recall the following result [41, Thm. 6.2].

Theorem 5.1. If X is a smooth Pfaffian cubic fourfold, then $\mathcal{J}(X)$ is birational to the O'Grady moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{2,0,4}(S)$ parameterizing rank-2 semi-stable sheaves on S with $c_1 = 0$ and $c_2 = 4$.

Recall that O'Grady HyperKähler example OG10 is a birational desingularization of $\mathcal{M}_{2,0,4}(S)$. The main result of this section is the following.

Theorem 5.2. There are infinitely many Pfaffian cubic fourfolds $X \in C_{14}$ such that that the motive $h(\mathcal{J}(X))$ of the associated LSV 10-fold is finite dimensional and Abelian.

Proof. Recall from [16, Rmk. 4.8] that the locus of Pfaffian cubics inside C_{14} is a constructible set. This means that it contains open subset, that we will denote by U. On the other hand, we know [28] that there is a birational map

$$g: \mathcal{C}_{14} \dashrightarrow \mathcal{G}_8$$

sending a cubic fourfold onto its associated K3 surface. This means that there exists an open subset $A \subset \mathcal{C}_{14}$, which is isomorphically sent onto an open set $g(A) \subset \mathcal{G}_8$. Let us consider the intersection $A \cap U \subset \mathcal{C}_{14}$. The image $g(A \cap U)$ is still open in \mathcal{G}_8 and all K3 surfaces in $g(A \cap U)$ are associated to a smooth Pfaffian cubic fourfold. Now, it is well known that K3 surfaces with $rk(NS) \geq 19$ are dense (in the complex topology) in the 19-dimensional moduli space \mathcal{G}_d of degree d polarized K3 surfaces, for all d. This means that there are also K3 surfaces of this kind inside our open subset $g(A \cap U)$. It is also straightforward to see that there are infinitely many, by a density argument. In turn, this means that there exist Pfaffian cubic fourfolds, whose associated K3 has Néron-Severi group of rank at least 19. Hence, by [48], they have a finite dimensional and Abelian Chow motive.

The existence of the LSV HK 10fold, compactifying the intermediate Jacobian fibration, is verified in [41] only for the generic cubic fourfold. More recently, Saccà [51] has shown the existence of the HK compactification for all cubics, hence it is in this framework that we will place ourselves. Now, by [21, Cor. 4.5 and 4.7], we know that the Chow motive of the OG10 HyperKähler associated to a K3 surface S is finite dimensional and Abelian whenever the h(S) is. Then, if the cubic fourfold X is Pfaffian, by Thm. 5.1 $\mathcal{J}(X)$ is birational to the OG10 associated to its K3 S. This implies that over the open subset $A \cap U$ there are infinitely many $\mathcal{J}(X)$ that, due to their birationality to the corresponding OG10, have finite dimensional and Abelian motive.

5.2. The twisted jacobian fibration. This section is the development of a suggestion of Giulia Saccà. In the last few years, Voisin [62, 61] introduced a twisted version of the intermediate jacobian fibration (see [62, Sect. 3] for details), parametrizing 1-cycles of degree 1 in the fibers of the cubic 3fold fibration. By the results of Voisin [62] and Saccà [51], it is now known that, for any cubic fourfold X, there exist a HyperKähler compactification of the twisted intermediate Jacobian fibration. The main result of this section goes shows that even in the twisted case, the motive of these HK compactifications can be often finite dimensional.

Theorem 5.3. For d not divisible by 4, 9, or any odd prime number $p \equiv 2[3]$, there exists an infinity of cubic fourfolds in C_d s.t. the twisted Jacobian fibration has a HK compactification with finite dimensional Chow motive.

Proof. We observe that the condition on d is nothing but the fact that the cubic fourfold X has an associated K3 surface. Let Ku(X) be the Kuznetsov component of the derived category of the cubic 4fold X. In the recent paper [43], the authors studied the moduli space M(X) of semistable objects of Mukai vector $2\lambda_1 + 2\lambda_2$ in Ku(X). Recall in fact from [4] that the algebraic Mukai lattice of Ku(X) contains two distinguished classes λ_i , i = 1, 2, that span an A_2 -lattice. With an approportiate choice of a stability condition on Ku(X) (that we will not detail here, see [43, Sect. 2 and 3] for details), the authors manage to show that the moduli space M(X) has a symplectic resolution $\widetilde{M}(X)$, which is a projective HyperKähler manifold, deformation equivalent to O'Grady 10 dimensional examples. More importantly, they show that there exists a HK birational model N(X) of $\widetilde{M}(X)$ that provides a compactification of the twisted intermediate Jacobian fibration. Of course N(X) and $\widetilde{M}(X)$ have isomorphic Chow motive, since they are birational.

The same argument as in [21, Sect. 5] (see also [22, Thm. 1.3 and Rmk 1.4]) shows that $\widetilde{M}(X)$ has finite dimensional Chow motive whenever h(X) is finite dimensional. This means once again that, if X has an associated singular K3 surface, then the motive h(N(X)) of the HK compactified twisted Jacobian fibration is finite dimensional. Since singular K3 surfaces are dense in the moduli space of genus $\frac{d+2}{2}$ K3 surfaces, by the same argument as in the untwisted case, this completes the proof.

6. K3 Surfaces with Abelian Chow Motive

In this section, we construct higher dimensional families of cubics with Abelian Chow motive starting from families of K3 surfaces with particular shapes. It is well known that among the examples of K3 surfaces with a motive of Abelian type there are Kummer surfaces and K3 surfaces with Picard rank ≥ 19 (see [48]). In this section we consider two families \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} of K3 surfaces with Picard rank 16, constructed in [24].

In [24] the authors construct families of K3 surfaces S, with $\rho(S) = 16$, admitting a symplectic action of the group $G = (\mathbb{Z}_2)^4$. The following lemma shows that the transcendental motive $t_2(S)$, as defined in [32], only depends on the motive of the quotient surface S/G. Note that the motive h(S/G) can be represented in $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbb{C})$ see [23, 16.1.13].

Lemma 6.1. Let S be a K3 surface over \mathbb{C} with a finite group G of symplectic automorphisms. Let Y be a minimal desingularization of the quotient surface S/G. Then

$$t_2(S) \simeq t_2(Y)$$

in $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$.

Proof. From the results in [30], every symplectic automorphism $g \in G$ acts trivially on $A_0(S)$, so that $A_0(S)^G = A_0(S)$. Since G is symplectic there are a finite number $\{P_1, \dots, P_k\}$ of isolated fixed points for G on S. Let Y be a minimal desingularization of the quotient surface S/G. The maps $f: S \to S/G$ and $g: Y \to S/G$ yield a rational map $S \dashrightarrow Y$ which is defined outside $\{P_1, \dots, P_k\}$. Since $t_2(-)$ is a birational invariant for smooth projective surfaces we get a map $\theta: t_2(S) \to t_2(Y)$ such that θ is the map onto a direct summand, see [48, Prop.1]. Hence we can write

$$t_2(Y) = t_2(S) \oplus N$$
.

Since $A_i(t_2(S)) = 0$, for $i \neq 0$, and $A_0(S)^G = A_0(S)$, we get $A_i(N) = 0$, for all i. From [25, Lemma 1] we get N = 0, hence $t_2(S) = t_2(S)^G \simeq t_2(Y)$.

6.1. Intersection of three quadrics. The moduli space of K3 surfaces with Picard number 16, admitting a symplectic action of the group $G = (\mathbb{Z}_2)^4$, has a countable number of connected components of dimension 4. The generic element of one of these connected components, that we will denote by \mathcal{F} , can be realized by considering a complete intersection S of three quadrics Q_1, Q_2, Q_3 in \mathbb{P}^5 , see [24, 10.2], whose equations are

(5)
$$\sum_{0 \le i \le 5} a_i x_i^2 = 0; \sum_{0 \le i \le 5} b_i x_i^2 = 0; \sum_{0 \le i \le 5} c_i x_i^2 = 0,$$

with complex parameters a_i, b_i, c_i and $i = 0, \dots, 5$. The group G is realized as the transformations of \mathbb{P}^5 changing an even number of signs in the coordinates $\{x_0 : x_1 : x_2 : x_3 : x_4 : x_5\}$. Let us denote by \mathcal{F} the family of such K3 surfaces. The dimension of the moduli space of these K3 surfaces is 4, see [24, 10.2].

By Lemma 6.1 we get $t_2(S) = t_2(Y)$, with Y a desingularization of S/G. An important feature of these surfaces is described in [36, Thm.3.1].

Theorem 6.2. A K3 surface belonging to the family \mathcal{F} has a motive of Abelian type.

More precisely one can show, using the results in [47], that the motive h(S) belongs to the subcategory of \mathcal{M}_{rat}^{ab} generated by the motive of a Prym variety associated to the surface Y. By [24, 10.2] the quotient S/G is a double cover of \mathbb{P}^2 branched at six lines l_i meeting in 15 points. The vector space $NS(Y) \otimes \mathbf{Q}$ of the desingularization Y of S/G is generated by the 15 classes $E_{i,j}$ of the 15 exceptional curves over the intersection points $l_i \cap l_j$ and by the class h of the inverse image of a general line in \mathbb{P}^2 . The motives of the surfaces S and Y have a Chow-Künneth decomposition as in [32, 7.2.2]

(6)
$$h(S) = \mathbf{1} \oplus \mathbf{L}^{\oplus \rho(S)} \oplus t_2(S) \oplus \mathbf{L}^2;$$

(7)
$$h(Y) = \mathbf{1} \oplus \mathbf{L}^{\oplus \rho(Y)} \oplus t_2(Y) \oplus \mathbf{L}^2;$$

where $\rho(S) = \rho(Y) = 16$ and $t_2(Y) = t_2(S)$, by 6.1. Therefore h(Y) = h(S).

By the results in [47] there exists a surface W which is a desingularization of the quotient $(C \times C)/F$ with C a curve and F a finite group such that Y = W/i, where i is a symplectic involution. The curve C has genus 5 and has an automorphism h of order 4 such that the quotient C/h is an elliptic curve E. The finite group F acting on $C \times C$ is generated by the automorphism (h, h^{-1}) and the involution $(c_1, c_2) \to (c_2, c_1)$. Let P be the connected component of the identity in the kernel of the

natural homomorphism Jac $C \to \text{Pic } E$. The Prym variety P is an Abelian variety of dimension 4 and the Kuga-Satake variety K(Y) is a sum of copies of P.

Proposition 6.3. The motive h(S) belongs to the subcategory of \mathcal{M}_{rat}^{Ab} generated by the motive h(P).

Proof. By the Main Theorem in [47] there exists an algebraic cycle $\Gamma \in A^2(P \times Y)$ such that the associated map $\Gamma^* : H^2(Y, \mathbf{Q}) \to H^2(P, \mathbf{Q})$ induces an inclusion between the lattices of transcendental cycles. Therefore the vector space $H^2_{tr}(Y, \mathbf{Q})$ is a direct summand of $H^2_{tr}(P, \mathbf{Q})$. Since P is an Abelian variety its Chow motive h(P) has a C-K decomposition

$$h(P) = \sum_{0 \le i \le 8} h_i(P).$$

The correspondence $\Gamma \in A_4(P \times Y)$ gives a map $h(P) \to h(Y)$, in the covariant category $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$. By composing with the inclusion $h_2(P) \subset h(P)$ and the projection $h(Y) \to t_2(Y)$ we get a map of motives

$$\gamma: h_2(P) \to t_2(Y)$$

such that the corresponding map at the level of cohomology is split surjective. The motives h(P) and $t_2(Y) = t_2(S)$ lie in the subcategory $\mathcal{C} \subset \mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$ generated by finite dimensional motives. Let \mathcal{N} be the largest tensor ideal in \mathcal{C} such that the quotient category \mathcal{C}/\mathcal{N} is semi simple. The ideal \mathcal{N} corresponds to numerical equivalence of cycles, the functor $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}/\mathcal{N}$ is conservative and reflects split epimorphisms, see [6, 1.4.4 and 8.2.4]. Therefore the map γ is split surjective in $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$. This proves that $t_2(Y) = t_2(S)$ is a direct summand of $h_2(P)$, hence the motive h(S) = h(Y) lies in the subcategory of \mathcal{M}_{rat}^{Ab} generated by the motive of the Prym variety P.

6.2. **Degree six surfaces in** \mathbb{P}^4 . A further example of a family \mathcal{G} of K3 surfaces with a motive of Abelian type is given by degree 6 surfaces S in \mathbb{P}^4 with 15 ordinary nodes. The desingularization of these surfaces has Picard rank 16 as well. By a result in [24, 8.2] these surfaces are the quotient of a K3 surface X by the action of a symplectic group $G \simeq (\mathbb{Z}_2)^4$ of automorphisms. We have a diagram

(9)
$$\begin{aligned}
\tilde{X} &\longrightarrow X \\
\pi \downarrow & f \downarrow \\
Y &\xrightarrow{g} S
\end{aligned}$$

where \tilde{X} is the blow-up of the fixed points under the action of G and Y contains 15 rational curves coming from the resolution of the singularities of S = X/G. The map π is 16: 1 outside the branch locus. By Lemma 6.1, the maps in 9 induce an isomorphism of motives $h(X) \simeq h(Y)$.

The results of Paranjape have been recently extended in [31, Cor. 6.16].

Theorem 6.4. Let S be general K3 surface of degree 6 with 15 ordinary nodes, i.e singularities of type A_1 . Then the motive of a desingularization of S is finite dimensional and of Abelian type.

In particular every surface in the family \mathcal{G} has a motive of Abelian type.

7. Fano fourfolds with associated K3 surfaces in \mathcal{F} or \mathcal{G}

In this section we use finite dimensionality of K3 surfaces belonging to the families \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} to construct Fano fourfolds either with a finite dimensional motive, or that contain a significant finite dimensional submotive (actually the motive of a K3 surface). This is similar to the approach of categorical representability followed in [14]. In Thm. 7.2 we consider a family of special Fano fourfolds fibrated in quadric surfaces. On the other hand, in Prop. 7.3 we study singular cubic fourfolds associated to K3 surfaces belonging to \mathcal{G} . In the second case the motive of the singular cubic 4-fold is Schur-finite in Voevodsky's triangulated category of motives $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{C})$.

7.1. Fano fourfolds associated to the net of quadrics of an octic K3 surface. Let Q_1 , Q_2 and Q_3 the three quadrics defined in Eq. 5. They generate a net of quadrics, whose total space is a quadric fibration $\sigma: \mathcal{Q} \to \mathbb{P}^2$ of relative dimension 4, contained in $\mathbb{P}^2 \times \mathbb{P}^5$. A simple calculation shows that for generic choices of a_i, b_i and c_i inside Equation 5, the generic fiber of σ is smooth and the singular fibers have an isolated singularity. The net degenerates along a plane sextic, and recall that the degree 8 complete intersection of the Q_i is (generically) a smooth K3 surface S, that is the base locus of the net.

We are now going to perform the hyperbolic reduction (see [7, Sect. 1] for details) of the quadric bundle with respect to the constant section given by any one of the points of S. The result will be a second quadric firbation, but this time the fibers will be surfaces, and the total space a Fano fourfold.

We observe that \mathcal{Q} is given by a 6×6 symmetric matrix $M_{\mathcal{Q}}$ of linear forms, that define a map $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}^{\oplus 6} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)^{\oplus 6}$. This means that \mathcal{Q} can be seen as the zero locus of $(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}^{\oplus 6}, q, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1))$, where by this we mean a line bundle valued quadratic form q on $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}^{\oplus 6}$, with values in $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1)$. For simplicity, in this section we will denote $E := \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}^{\oplus 6}$. The K3 surface has points over \mathbb{C} hence we can chose the constant section given by one of these over \mathbb{P}^2 . This gives an inclusion of an isotropic line sub-bundle $N := \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2} \subset E$. The hyperbolic reduction of \mathcal{Q} naturally lives in the projectivized bundle N^{\perp}/N which is defined by the following two short exact sequences.

$$(10) 0 \to N^{\perp} \to E \to Hom(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^2}(1) \to 0;$$

$$(11) 0 \to N \to N^{\perp} \to N^{\perp}/N \to 0.$$

En easy Chern class computation based on the above SES shows that $c_1(N^{\perp}/N) = h$, where h is the hyperplane class of \mathbb{P}^2 . Let us denote by $\sigma' : \mathcal{Q}' \to \mathbb{P}^2$ the quadric surface bundle obtained by hyperbolic reduction of \mathcal{Q} at the constant section given by projectivizing N.

Lemma 7.1. The quadric surface fibration $\sigma': \mathcal{Q}' \to \mathbb{P}^2$ is a smooth Fano variety.

Proof. Hyperbolic reduction preserves the discriminant and the corank of the singular fibers, hence smoothness holds. Let us set $H_1 = \sigma'^*h$ and $H_2 = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}(N^{\perp}/N)}(1)_{|\mathcal{Q}'}$. In order to compute the anticanonical bundle, we can use the formula of Proposition 2.13 of [44] and obtain

$$-K_{\mathcal{Q}'} = \frac{12-2-6}{2+2}H_1 + 2H_2.$$

Since H_2 is ample, one easily sees that $-K_{\mathcal{Q}'}$ is ample as well and \mathcal{Q}' is Fano.

Theorem 7.2. The Chow motive of the Fano fourfold Q' has a finite dimensional submotive $h(S)(1) \to h(Q')$, that is the (twist of the) Chow motive of the degree 8 K3 surface $S := \bigcap_{i=1}^{3} Q_i$.

Proof. Let S be the K3 surface defined by the intersection of the 3 quadrics Q_1, Q_2, Q_3 . The quadrics Q_i define a linear system of dimension two $|Q| = \mathbb{P}^2$. This projective plane naturally contains the discriminant curve D of degree 6, that parametrizes singular quadrics, and under our genericity hypotheses the sextic is smooth. The curve D defines another smooth K3 surface T, which is the double cover of \mathbb{P}^2 ramified in D.

By the work of Kuznetsov [33] on derived categories of quadric fibrations, we know that there exists a semi-orthogonal decomposition for the bounded derived category of coherent sheaves on Q':

(12)
$$D^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathcal{Q}') = \langle D^{\mathbf{b}}(T, \alpha), \sigma'^{*}(D^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{P}^{2})) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathbb{P}^{2}}(1), \sigma'^{*}(D^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathbb{P}^{2})) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathbb{P}^{2}}(2) \rangle.$$

Here T is our K3 double cover of \mathbb{P}^2 , and $\alpha \in Br[2](T)$ the (2-torsion) Brauer class on T that comes from the Brauer-Severi variety on T defined by the relative Hilbert scheme of lines inside the fibers of $\sigma': \mathcal{Q}' \to \mathbb{P}^2$. Moreover, thanks to the work of Caldărăru [18], we know that we have a derived equivalence

$$D^{\mathbf{b}}(T, \alpha) \cong D^{\mathbf{b}}(S).$$

The fully faithful functor $D^{\mathbf{b}}(S) \to D^{\mathbf{b}}(\mathcal{Q}')$ is Fourier-Mukai. A straightforward application of Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch shows that this induces a correspondence $\gamma \in A^3(S \times \mathcal{Q}')$ that induces an isomorphism $A_0(S)_{hom} \stackrel{\sim}{\to} A_1(\mathcal{Q}')_{hom}$. This follows from the fact that the homologically trivial part of S and \mathcal{Q}' are concentrated in codimension two and three respectively. For S, this follows from the reduced Chow-Künneth decomposition of h(S) while for \mathcal{Q}' it follows from the decomposition, proved in Vial [58, Cor. 4.4],

(13)
$$h(\mathcal{Q}') \cong \bigoplus_{i=0}^{2} h(\mathbb{P}^2)(i) \oplus (Z, r, 1),$$

because h(Q') is a quadric bundle over \mathbb{P}^2 . Here Z is a surface and r a projector. Therefore

$$A^{3}(X)_{hom} = A^{3}((Z, r, 1)) = A^{2}((Z, r)) = r_{*}(A_{0}(Z)_{hom}).$$

From the reduced CK decompositions of the surfaces S and Z, that both have no odd cohomology, we get

$$A^3(h(S)(1)) = A^2(t_2(S)) = A_0(S)_{hom}; \quad A^3((Z,r,1)) = A^2((Z,r)) = r_*(A_0(Z)_{hom}) \subset A_0(Z)_{hom}$$

Therefore the correspondence $\gamma \in A^3(S \times \mathcal{Q}')$ induces a map of motives $h(S)(1) \to h(\mathcal{Q}')$ that gives an injection on Chow groups and hence displays h(S)(1) as a submotive of $h(\mathcal{Q}')$.

7.2. Singular cubics and 15-nodal K3 surfaces. The relation between smooth cubic fourfolds and polarized K3 surfaces, proved in [28], has been recently extended to the case of fourfolds with isolated ADE singularities. A.K. Stegmann in [55] constructs the moduli space of cubic fourfolds with a certain combination of isolated ADE singularities as a GIT quotient and compares it to the moduli space of certain quasi-polarized K3 surface of degree 6, proving that the two moduli spaces are isomorphic. Here we consider the motive of a cubic fourfold X with isolated singularities associated to a K3 surfaces of degree 6 with 15 nodes belonging to \mathcal{G} . Since we are now working

with singular varieties, we need to change the category of motives from $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$ to Voevodsky's triangulated category of motives $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{C})$.

Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^5$ be a cubic fourfold with isolated singularities. Projection from a double point $p \in X$ gives a birational map $\pi_p : X \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^4$ which can be factored as

$$\tilde{X}_p \xrightarrow{q_1} X ; \tilde{X}_p \xrightarrow{q_2} \mathbb{P}^4$$

where q_1 is the blow-up of the singular point p and q_2 is the blow-down of the lines contained in X passing through p. These lines are parametrized by a normal surface S_p of degree 6 in \mathbb{P}^4 . The surface S_p is a complete intersection of a quadric Q_p and a cubic C_p . The quadric Q_p is completely determined by S_p while the cubic C_p in \mathbb{P}^4 containing S_p is uniquely determined modulo those cubics containing the quadric Q_p . Conversely, starting from a (2,3)-complete intersection in \mathbb{P}^4 , the blow up of the sextic surface followed by the contraction of the strict transform of the quadric yields a singular cubic fourfold with a double point, which is the image of the quadric. The type of this singularity depends on the rank of the quadric.

The cubic fourfold X and the complete intersection S_p can both have singularities, and still the birational transformation here above holds true. One of the main results in [55] is that there is a natural correspondence between singularities on the cubic fourfold and on the sextic surface, including the type of singularities.

Suppose that the surface S_p has only isolated singularities. Since the singularities of S_p are simple the minimal resolution of S_p is a K3 surface. If S_p is singular at a point y then either $y=\pi_p(p')$, with $p'\neq p$ a singular point of X, or y is singular for the quadric Q_p . In this second case the cubic C_p cannot be singular at y, because otherwise X would be singular along the line \overline{py} while X has only isolated singularities. Therefore the singularities of $X-\{p\}$ are in 1-1 correspondence with the singularities of S_p not contained in $\mathrm{Sing}\,Q_p$. Let E_p be the exceptional divisor of the the blow-up $\tilde{X}_p \to X$ at p. Then E_p is isomorphic to Q_p and the singularities of \tilde{X}_p on E_p correspond to the singularities of S_p which are contained in $\mathrm{Sing}\,Q_p$. If X has only a single A_1 singularity p then the surface S_p is a smooth K3 surface, see [55, 5.1 and 5.2]. Note that, due to a result of Varchenko (see [57, Theorem on the Upper Bound, p. 2781]) the maximal number of isolated singularities which can occur on a cubic fourfold is 15.

Let $\mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf{C})$ be Voevodsky's triangulated category of motives (with **Q**-coefficients). There is a fully faithful embedding

(14)
$$F: \mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C}) \to \mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{C}).$$

For every complex variety V one can define a motive $M(V) \in \mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{C})$ and every blow-up diagram

(15)
$$E \xrightarrow{\bar{j}} Y = \text{Bl}_Z$$

$$\bar{\sigma} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \sigma \downarrow$$

$$Z \xrightarrow{\bar{j}} \qquad X$$

induces a distinguished triangle in $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{C})$, see [59, (4.1.3)]

(16)
$$M(E) \xrightarrow{(\bar{\sigma})_* + \bar{j}_*} M(Z) \oplus M(Y) \xrightarrow{j_* - \sigma_*} M(X) \longrightarrow M(E)[1]$$
 where E is the exceptional divisor.

Proposition 7.3. Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^5$ be a cubic fourfold with isolated singularities. Assume that for some singular point p of X the associated surface S_p belongs to the family \mathcal{G} . Then the motive $M(X) \in \mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf{C})$ is Schur-finite and lies in the triangulated tensor category $\mathbf{DM_Q^{Ab}}(\mathbf{C})$ generated by the motives of curves.

Proof. Since \tilde{X}_p is the blow-up of \mathbb{P}^4 along S_p there is a diagram

$$E_{S_p} \longrightarrow \tilde{X}_p = \operatorname{Bl}_{S_p}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$S_p \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^4$$

where E_{S_p} is the exceptional divisor of the blow-up $q_2: \tilde{X}_p \to \mathbb{P}^4$. Therefore from (16) we get a distinguished triangle in $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{C})$

(17)
$$M(E_{S_p}) \longrightarrow M(S_p) \oplus M(\tilde{X}_p) \longrightarrow M(\mathbb{P}^4) \longrightarrow M(E_{S_p})[1].$$

The exceptional divisor E_{S_p} is a \mathbb{P}^1 -bundle over S_p . By 6.1 and 6.4 the motive $h(S_p)$ equals the motive of a smooth K3 surface and is finite-dimensional. Therefore its image in $\mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf{C})$ under the functor (14) is finite dimensional. By the projective bundle theorem, that is valid also in $\mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf{C})$, see [59, (4.1.11)], we get

$$M(E_{S_p}) \simeq M(S_p)(1)[2]$$

Therefore the motives $M(E_{S_p})$, $M(S_p)$ and $M(\mathbb{P}^4)$ are finite dimensional in $\mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf{C})$. Finite dimensional objects in the triangulated category $\mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf{C})$ are also Schur-finite and Schur-finiteness has the two out of three property in $\mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf{C})$, see [45, Prop. 5.3]. Therefore from (17) we get that the motive $M(\tilde{X}_p)$ is Schur-finite.

The blow-up $q_1: \tilde{X}_p \to X$ induces a distinguished triangle in $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{C})$ as in (16)

$$M(E_p) \longrightarrow M(\{p\}) \oplus M(\tilde{X}_p) \longrightarrow M(X) \longrightarrow M(E_p)[1].$$

The exceptional divisor $E_p \subset \tilde{X}_p$ is isomorphic to the quadric $Q_p \subset \mathbb{P}^4$. Therefore $M(E_p)$ is Schurfinite in $\mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf{C})$. The motives $M(E_p)$, $M(\{p\})$ and $M(\tilde{X}_p)$ are Schur-finite. By the the two out of three property we get that the motive M(X) is Schur-finite. Moreover, since the motives of E_p , $\{p\}$ and \tilde{X}_p are of Abelian type in $\mathcal{M}_{rat}(\mathbf{C})$, the motive M(X) belongs to the triangulated tensor subcategory $\mathbf{DM_Q}^{ab}(\mathbf{C})$ of $\mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf{C})$ generated by the motives of curves, see [11, Prop. 1.5.6.].

7.3. A family of cubic fourfolds with associated 15-nodal, degree six K3 surface. The following construction gives an example of a dimension 4 family of singular cubic fourfolds, obtained from K3 surfaces belonging to the family $\mathcal G$ of 15-nodal K3 surfaces. Therefore, by Prop. 7.3 the motive of all these fourfolds in $\mathbf{DM_Q}(\mathbf C)$ is Schur-finite.

The mere existence of a family of dimension 4 of 15-nodal K3 surfaces of degree 6 is assured by [24, Thm. 8.3], but for the lack of a precise reference of our knowledge, we give here a geometric construction of such surfaces.

Proposition 7.4. A sextic, 15-nodal complete intersection surface in \mathbb{P}^4 is a double cover of \mathbb{P}^2 ramified along a degenerate sextic F given by two conics and two lines. Such surfaces form a 4-dimensional family. The sextic F has two everywhere tangent conics.

Proof. Let us consider such a K3 surface $S \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ and project it onto \mathbb{P}^2 from a line joining two nodes. Call them q_1 and q_2 . Since both the nodes have multiplicity 2 this exhibits S as a double cover of the plane, ramified along a sextic curve F.

For the generic desingularized K3 surface \tilde{S} in our family, we have that $NS(S) \otimes \mathbf{Q}$ is generated by the classes H, E_1, \ldots, E_{15} , where $H^2 = 6$ is the natural polarization and the E_i are the exceptional divisors with $E_i^2 = -2$. Hence the polarization on \tilde{S} that gives the map to \mathbb{P}^2 is $|H - E_1 - E_2|$, and the family has dimension 4.

Since the projective model in \mathbb{P}^4 has 15 nodes, the ramification sextic cannot be smooth. In fact, F has 13 nodes, that are the images of the nodes q_3, \ldots, q_{15} , not contained inside the line center of projection. Hence it is reducible, and it splits as two conics and two lines. The images of the two exceptional divisors E_1 and E_2 , exactly as in the well-known case of the double cover of \mathbb{P}^2 defined by a Kummer surface, are sent to two conics C_1 and C_2 in \mathbb{P}^2 , which are everywhere tangent to F. That is, $C_i \cap F = 2\Delta_i$, where the Δ_i are degree 6 divisors. The strict transform in \tilde{S} of each C_i is the union of two (-2) curves that intersect in 6 points. One of these two curves corresponds to (one of the) node(s) from which we project.

Remark 7.5. We also observe that a naive parameter count gives 5+5+2+2-8=6 for the two lines and two conics up to projectivity. The remaining two conditions to descend to the dimension of the family are given by the tangency conditions.

Now, the construction of the corresponding family of cubic fourfolds is the same as in the one nodal case (see for example [34, Lemma 5.1]). Take any K3 surface $S \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ in the family \mathcal{G} and consider the map

$$\psi: \mathbb{P}^4 \dashrightarrow \mathbb{P}^5,$$

given by the full linear system of cubics through S. This induces a birational transformation that consists first in blowing-up S, and then contract to one point all the trisecant lines to S. The union of these trisecant lines is exactly the strict transform of the only quadric through S, which is then contracted on a (singular) point of X, giving the birational transformation already described in Sect. 7.2. By this construction and Prop. 7.3, we obtain the following.

Theorem 7.6. Let $S \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ be any K3 surface from the family \mathcal{G} , and let X be a singular cubic fourfold obtained from S via the map ψ of Eq. 18. Then X has Schür finite motive in $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}(\mathbf{C})$ and belong to the subcategory $\mathbf{DM}_{\mathbf{Q}}^{Ab}$.

APPENDIX A. LATTICE THEORETIC COMPUTATIONS.

In this Appendix, we collect the proofs of the lattice theoretical results contained in Sect. 3, in order to make the body of the paper lighter. The first proof we need is the following.

Proof. (of Lemma 3.4) The proof is divided in multiple cases depending on the value of the discriminants.

<u>Case 1</u>: if $d_1, d_2, d_3 \equiv 0$ [6] such that $d_1 = 6n_1, d_2 = 6n_2$ and $d_3 = 6n_3$, for $n_1, n_2 \geq 2$ and $n_3 = \prod p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number.

Let us consider the rank 4 lattice,

$$M := \langle h^2, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3 \rangle$$
, with $\alpha_1 = e_1^1 + n_1 e_2^1, \alpha_2 = e_1^2 + n_2 e_2^2$ and $\alpha_3 = \sqrt{n_3} a_1$.

The Gram matrix of M with respect to this basis is:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2n_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2n_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2n_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Therefore, M is a positive definite saturated sublattice of L. Moreover, for any nonzero $v = x_1h^2 + x_2\alpha_1 + x_3\alpha_2 + x_4\alpha_3$, where $x_1, ..., x_4$ are integers not all zeros, we have

$$(v,v) = 3x_1^2 + 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + 2n_3x_4^2 \ge 3,$$

 $\forall n_1, n_2 \geq 2, n_3$ as required.

We denote by $\mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}$ the locus of smooth cubic fourfold such that there is a primitive embedding $M \subset A(X)$ preserving h^2 . The locus \mathcal{C}_M is nonempty of codimension 3 by [63, Proposition 2.3]. Let us consider now the sublattices

$$K_{d_1} := < h^2, \alpha_1 > \subset M$$

 $K_{d_2} := < h^2, \alpha_2 > \subset M$
 $K_{d_3} := < h^2, \alpha_3 > \subset M$

of discriminant respectively d_1, d_2 and d_3 . By [63, Lemma 2.4, Proposition 2.3], we have that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_2} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_3}$ as required.

<u>Case 2</u>: if $d_1, d_2 \equiv 0[6], d_3 \equiv 2[6]$ such that $d_1 = 6n_1, d_2 = 6n_2$ and $d_3 = 6n_3 + 2$ for $n_1, n_2 \ge 2$, and $n_3 = \prod p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number.

This time we consider the positive definite saturated rank 4 sublattice of L:

$$M := \langle h^2, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3 + (0, 0, 1) \rangle$$
.

The Gram matrix of M is:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 2n_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2n_2 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 2n_3 + 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Additionally, for any nonzero $v = x_1h^2 + x_2\alpha_1 + x_3\alpha_2 + x_4(\alpha_3 + (0,0,1))$ we have that:

$$(v,v) = 3x_1^2 + 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + (2n_3 + 1)x_4^2 + 2x_1x_4$$

= $2x_1^2 + 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + 2n_3x_4^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 \ge 3$

 $\forall n_1, n_2 \geq 2$ and $n_3 = \prod_i p_i^2$. Then, applying [63, Proposition 2.3], we have that \mathcal{C}_M is nonempty of codimension 3. Now we define the following saturated rank 2 sublattices of M:

$$K_{d_1} := \langle h^2, \alpha_1 \rangle$$
 with Gram matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 \\ 0 & 2n_1 \end{pmatrix}$
 $K_{d_2} := \langle h^2, \alpha_2 \rangle$ with Gram matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 \\ 0 & 2n_2 \end{pmatrix}$

$$K_{d_3} := \langle h^2, \alpha_3 + (0, 0, 1) \rangle$$
 with Gram matrix $\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 \\ 1 & 2n_3 + 1 \end{pmatrix}$

Again, by [63, Lemma 2.4] and [63, Proposition 2.3], we have that $\mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{K_{d_1}} = \mathcal{C}_{d_1}$, $\mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{K_{d_2}} = \mathcal{C}_{d_2}$ and $\mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{K_{d_3}} = \mathcal{C}_{d_3}$. Consequently, $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_2} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_3}$ in this case as well.

<u>Case 3:</u> if $d_1 \equiv 0[6]$ and $d_2, d_3 \equiv 2[6]$ such that $d_1 = 6n_1, d_2 = 6n_2 + 2$ and $d_3 = 6n_3 + 2$ for $n_1 \geq 2, n_2 \geq 1$ and $n_3 = \prod p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number.

Let us consider the rank 4 lattice,

$$M := \langle h^2, \alpha_1, \alpha_2 + (0, 1, 0), \alpha_3 + (0, 0, 1) \rangle$$

The Gram matrix of M is:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 2n_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 2n_2 + 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 2n_3 + 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The lattice M is a positive definite saturated sublattice of L. Moreover, for any nonzero $v = x_1h^2 + x_2\alpha_1 + x_3(\alpha_2 + (0, 1, 0)) + x_4(\alpha_3 + (0, 0, 1)) \in M$,

$$(v,v) = 3x_1^2 + 2n_1x_2^2 + (2n_2 + 1)x_3^2 + (2n_3 + 1)x_4^2 + 2x_1x_3 + 2x_1x_4$$

= $x_1^2 + 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + 2n_3x_4^2 + (x_1 + x_3)^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 \ge 3$

 $\forall n_1 \geq 2, n_2 \geq 1, n_3$ as required. Then \mathcal{C}_M is nonempty of codimension 3 by [63, Proposition 2.3]. Now let us consider the saturated rank 2 sublattices of M:

$$K_{d_1} := < h^2, \alpha_1 > \text{of Gram matrix} \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 \\ 0 & 2n_1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 $K_{d_2} := < h^2, \alpha_2 + (0, 1, 0) > \text{of Gram matrix} \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 \\ 1 & 2n_2 + 1 \end{pmatrix}$
 $K_{d_3} := < h^2, \alpha_3 + (0, 0, 1) > \text{of Gram matrix} \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 \\ 1 & 2n_3 + 1 \end{pmatrix}$

It is straightforward to see that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_2} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_3}$ also in this case.

<u>Case 4:</u> if $d_1, d_2, d_3 \equiv 2[6]$ such that $d_1 = 6n_1 + 2, d_2 = 6n_2 + 2$ and $d_3 = 6n_3 + 2$ for $n_1, n_2 \ge 1$ and $n_3 = \prod p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number.

Let us define the lattice M as follows

$$M := \langle h^2, \alpha_1 + (1, 0, 0), \alpha_2 + (0, 1, 0), \alpha_3 + (0, 0, 1) \rangle$$

The Gram matrix of M with respect to this basis is:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 2n_1 + 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 2n_2 + 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 2n_3 + 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and M is a rank 4 positive definite saturated sublattice of L. Furthermore, for any nonzero $v = x_1h^2 + x_2(\alpha_1 + (1,0,0)) + x_3(\alpha_2 + (0,1,0)) + x_4(\alpha_3 + (0,0,1)) \in M$, we have that:

$$(v,v) = 3x_1^2 + (2n_1 + 1)x_2^2 + (2n_2 + 1)x_3^2 + (2n_3 + 1)x_4^2 + 2x_1x_2 + 2x_1x_3 + 2x_1x_4$$
$$= 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + 2n_3x_4^2 + (x_1 + x_2)^2(x_1 + x_3)^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 \ge 3$$

 $\forall n_1, n_2 \geq 1, n_3$ as required. As usual, we consider now the rank 2 saturated sublattices of M:

$$K_{d_1} := < h^2, \alpha_1 + (1, 0.0) >$$

 $K_{d_2} := < h^2, \alpha_2 + (0, 1, 0) >$
 $K_{d_3} := < h^2, \alpha_3 + (0, 0, 1) >$

Applying [63, Lemma 2.4] and [63, Proposition 2.3], we obtain that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_2} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_3}$ also in this case.

Now we continue with the proof of Prop. 3.5.

Proof. (of Prop. 3.5) We will prove that $\forall n \geq 4$, $\bigcap_{k=1}^{n} C_{d_k} \neq \emptyset$.

Since for $n \leq 3$, this formula has already been proved (see Proposition 3.1 and Lemma 3.4), we proceed to consider the case n = 4.

For n = 4: $d_1 = 6n_1$, $d_2 = 6n_2$, $d_3 = 6n_3$, $d_4 = 6n_4$ for $n_1, n_2 \ge 2$ and $n_3, n_4 = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number.

Let us consider the rank 5 lattice,

$$M := \langle h^2, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \alpha_4 \rangle$$
, with $\alpha_1 = e_1^1 + n_1 e_2^1, \alpha_2 = e_1^2 + n_2 e_2^2, \alpha_3 = \sqrt{n_3} a_1$ and $\alpha_4 = \sqrt{n_4} a_2$.

The lattice M is a positive definite saturated sublattice of L with the following Gram matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2n_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2n_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2n_3 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} & 2n_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Furthermore, for any nonzero $v = x_1h^2 + x_2\alpha_1 + x_3\alpha_3 + x_4\alpha_3 + x_5\alpha_4 \in M$, we have that

$$(v,v) = 3x_1^2 + 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + n_3x_4^2 + n_4x_5^2 + (\sqrt{n_3}x_4 + \sqrt{n_4}x_5)^2 \ge 3$$

 $\forall n_1, n_2 \geq 2, \ n_3, n_4 = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number (thus $n_3, n_4 \geq 4$). The locus \mathcal{C}_M is then nonempty of codimension 4. Now let us consider the rank 2 saturated sublattices of M:

$$K_{d_i} := \langle h^2, \alpha_i \rangle, i = 1, \dots, 4,$$

each of discriminant d_i . By [63, Lemma 2.4] and [63, Proposition 2.3], We have that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_2} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_3} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_4}$ with the required conditions on d_i .

Then the same method applies to check that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \bigcap_{k=1}^n \mathcal{C}_{d_k}$, for $5 \leq n \leq 19$, hence we refrain to give details. Nevertheless, let us go through the final, n = 20, step.

For n=20: if $d_i = 6n_i$, i = 1,...,20, with $n_1, n_2 \ge 2$ and $n_3,...,n_{20} = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number. We need to consider the rank 21 lattice M generated by:

$$< h^2, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \sqrt{n_3}a_1, \sqrt{n_4}a_2, \sqrt{n_5}t_1^1, \sqrt{n_6}t_3^1, \sqrt{n_7}t_6^1, \sqrt{n_8}t_1^2, \sqrt{n_9}t_3^2, \sqrt{n_{10}}t_6^2, \sqrt{n_{11}}t_2^1, \sqrt{n_{12}}t_2^2, \sqrt{n_{13}}t_4^1, \sqrt{n_{14}}t_4^2, \sqrt{n_{15}}t_7^1, \sqrt{n_{16}}t_7^2, \sqrt{n_{17}}t_8^1, \sqrt{n_{18}}t_8^2, \sqrt{n_{19}}t_5^1, \sqrt{n_{20}}t_5^2>,$$

with the following Gram matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix}
A & B \\
B^T & C
\end{pmatrix}$$

such that

The lattice $M \subset L$ is a positive definite saturated lattice containing h^2 . Moreover, for all $v \in M$, we have that

$$(v,v) \neq 2.$$

for $n_1, n_2 \ge 2, n_3, ..., n_{20}$ as required. Then, by [63, Proposition 2.3, Lemma 2.4], the locus \mathcal{C}_M is nonempty of codimension 20.

Finally, we consider the rank 2 saturated sublattices $K_{d_i} \subset M$ generated by h^2 and another element from the basis of M: $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \sqrt{n_3}a_1, \sqrt{n_4}a_2, \sqrt{n_5}t_1^1, \sqrt{n_6}t_3^1, \sqrt{n_7}t_6^1, \sqrt{n_8}t_1^2, \sqrt{n_9}t_3^2, \sqrt{n_{10}}t_6^2, \sqrt{n_{11}}t_2^1, \sqrt{n_{12}}t_2^2, \sqrt{n_{13}}t_4^1, \sqrt{n_{14}}t_4^2, \sqrt{n_{15}}t_7^1, \sqrt{n_{16}}t_7^2, \sqrt{n_{17}}t_8^1, \sqrt{n_{18}}t_8^2, \sqrt{n_{19}}t_5^1, \sqrt{n_{20}}t_5^2$. The lattice K_{d_i} is of discriminant d_i , for all i. Applying [63, Propsition 2.3, Lemma 2.4] again, we obtain $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap ... \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_{20}}$ with the required conditions on d_i .

Finally we give the proof of our first main Thm. 3.6.

Proof. (of Thm. 3.6) Let us consider $\bigcap_{k=1}^{n} C_{d_k}$.

For n = 2: see [63, Theorem 3.1].

For n = 3: see Lemma 3.4.

<u>For $1 \le n \le 20$ </u>: for $d_k \equiv 0$ [6], $d_3, ..., d_{20} = 6 \prod p_i^2$, see Proposition 3.5.

In the following, we will describe in detail the case n=4. For higher values of n, it will be clear that one needs to use exactly the same strategy of n=4, hence for the sake of shortness, we will omit most of them.

For n = 4:

<u>Case 1:</u> if all discriminants $d_1, d_2, d_3, d_4 \equiv 0$ [6]. This case is proved in Proposition 3.5.

Case 2: if
$$d_1 = 6n_1, d_2 = 6n_2, d_3 = 6n_3, d_4 = 6n_4 + 2$$
 such that $n_1, n_2 \ge 2$ and $n_3, n_4 = \prod_i p_i^2$

for certain prime numbers p_i .

We consider the rank 5 lattice $M := \langle h^2, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \alpha_4 + (0, 0, 1) \rangle$, with $\alpha_1 = e_1^1 + n_1 e_2^1, \alpha_2 = e_1^2 + n_2 e_2^2, \alpha_3 = \sqrt{n_3} a_1$ and $\alpha_4 = \sqrt{n_4} a_2$.

The Gram matrix of M with respect to this basis is:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 2n_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2n_2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2n_3 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} & 2n_4 + 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and M is a positive definite saturated sublattice of L. For all $v \in M$ $v = x_1h^2 + x_2\alpha_1 + x_3\alpha_2 + x_4\alpha_3 + x_5(\alpha_4 + (0,0,1)) \in M$, we have that

$$(v,v) = 2x_1^2 + 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + n_3x_4^2 + n_4x_5^2 + (\sqrt{n_3}x_4 + \sqrt{n_4}x_5)^2 + (x_1 + x_5)^2 \neq 2,$$

for all $n_1, n_2 \ge 2$, $n_3, n_4 = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number (thus $n_3, n_4 \ge 4$). Then \mathcal{C}_M is nonempty of codimension 4. Moreover, let us consider

$$K_{d_i} := \langle h^2, \alpha_i \rangle, i : 1, ..., 4.$$

Hence, by [63, Lemma 2.4, Proposition 2.3], we have that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_2} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_3} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_4}$ with the required conditions on d_i .

<u>Case 3:</u> if $d_1 = 6n_1$, $d_2 = 6n_2$, $d_3 = 6n_3 + 2$, $d_4 = 6n_4 + 2$ such that $n_1, n_2 \ge 2$ and $n_3, n_4 = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number.

We consider the rank 5 lattice,

$$M := < h^2, \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3 + (0, 1, 0), \alpha_4 + (0, 0, 1) >,$$
 with $\alpha_1 = e_1^1 + n_1 e_2^1, \alpha_2 = e_1^2 + n_2 e_2^2, \alpha_3 = \sqrt{n_3} a_1$ and $\alpha_4 = \sqrt{n_4} a_2$.

The Gram matrix of M is

$$\begin{pmatrix}
3 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\
0 & 2n_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\
0 & 0 & 2n_2 & 0 & 0 \\
1 & 0 & 0 & 2n_3 + 1 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} \\
1 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} & 2n_4 + 1
\end{pmatrix}$$

and M is a positive definite saturated sublattice of L. In addition, for all $v \in M$ $v = x_1h^2 + x_2\alpha_1 + x_3\alpha_2 + x_4(\alpha_3 + (0, 1, 0)) + x_5(\alpha_4 + (0, 0, 1)) \in M$, we have that

$$(v,v) = x_1^2 + 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + n_3x_4^2 + n_4x_5^2 + (\sqrt{n_3}x_4 + \sqrt{n_4}x_5)^2 + (x_1 + x_5)^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 \neq 2,$$

for all $n_1, n_2 \geq 2$, $n_3, n_4 = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number. Then \mathcal{C}_M is nonempty of codimension 4 by [63, Proposition 2.3]. Moreover, if we consider

$$K_{d_i} := \langle h^2, \alpha_i \rangle, i : 1, ..., 4,$$

then, by [63, Lemma 2.4, Proposition 2.3], we have that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_2} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_3} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_4}$ with the required conditions on d_i .

<u>Case 4:</u> if $d_1 = 6n_1, d_2 = 6n_2 + 2, d_3 = 6n_3 + 2, d_4 = 6n_4 + 2$ such that $n_1 \ge 2, n_2 \ge 1$ and $n_3, n_4 = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number.

We consider the rank 5 lattice,

$$M := \langle h^2, \alpha_1, \alpha_2 + (1, 0, 0), \alpha_3 + (0, 1, 0), \alpha_4 + (0, 0, 1) \rangle$$
.

The Gram matrix of M is:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 2n_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 2n_2 + 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 2n_3 + 1 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} & 2n_4 + 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence, M is a positive definite saturated sublattice of L. Furthermore, for all $v \in M$, $v = x_1h^2 + x_2\alpha_1 + x_3(\alpha_2 + (1,0,0)) + x_4(\alpha_3 + (0,1,0)) + x_5(\alpha_4 + (0,0,1)) \in M$, we have that

$$(v,v) = 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + n_3x_4^2 + n_4x_5^2 + (\sqrt{n_3}x_4 + \sqrt{n_4}x_5)^2 + (x_1 + x_5)^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 + (x_1 + x_3)^2 \neq 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + n_3x_4^2 + n_4x_5^2 + (\sqrt{n_3}x_4 + \sqrt{n_4}x_5)^2 + (x_1 + x_5)^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 + (x_1 + x_3)^2 \neq 2n_1x_2^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 + (x_1 + x_3)^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 + (x_1$$

for all $n_1 \geq 2$, $n_2 \geq 1$ and $n_3, n_4 = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number (thus $n_3, n_4 \geq 4$). Then \mathcal{C}_M is nonempty of codimension 4. Moreover, let us define

$$K_{d_i} := \langle h^2, \alpha_i \rangle, i : 1, ..., 4.$$

We have then that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_2} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_3} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_4}$ with the required conditions on d_i .

Case 5: if $d_1 = 6n_1 + 2$, $d_2 = 6n_2 + 2$, $d_3 = 6n_3 + 2$, $d_4 = 6n_4 + 2$ such that $n_1, n_2 \ge 1$ and $n_3, n_4 = \prod_{i=1}^{n_2} p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number.

We need to consider the rank 5 lattice,

$$M := \langle h^2, \alpha_1 + (1, 0, 0), \alpha_2 + (1, 0, 0), \alpha_3 + (0, 1, 0), \alpha_4 + (0, 0, 1) \rangle$$

with the following Gram matrix:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 2n_1 + 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 2n_2 + 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 2n_3 + 1 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & \sqrt{n_3 n_4} & 2n_4 + 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The lattice M is a positive definite saturated sublattice of L. For all $v \in M$, $v = x_1h^2 + x_2(\alpha_1 + (1,0,0)) + x_3(\alpha_2 + (1,0,0)) + x_4(\alpha_3 + (0,1,0)) + x_5(\alpha_4 + (0,0,1)) \in M$, we have that

$$(v,v) = 2n_1x_2^2 + 2n_2x_3^2 + n_3x_4^2 + n_4x_5^2 + (\sqrt{n_3}x_4 + \sqrt{n_4}x_5)^2 + (x_1 + x_5)^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 + (x_1 + x_4)^2 + (x_1 + x_2)^2 - x_1^2 \neq 2,$$

for all $n_1, n_2 \ge 1$, $n_3, n_4 = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number. Hence \mathcal{C}_M is nonempty of codimension 4. As usual, we set the rank 2 saturated sublattices

$$K_{d_i} := \langle h^2, \alpha_i \rangle, i : 1, ..., 4.$$

Applying [63, Lemma 2.4], we have that $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \mathcal{C}_{d_1} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_2} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_3} \cap \mathcal{C}_{d_4}$ with the required conditions on d_i .

For $5 \le n \le 19$: In the same way, one can continue to consider, for each intersection of n Hassett divisors, certain positive definite saturated rank n+1 lattice E containing h^2 and check that for a nonzero $v \in E$, $(v,v) \ge 3$ or equivalently for all $v \in E$, $(v,v) \ne 2$. This allows us to conclude the existence of the required family of cubics inside the intersection (by [63, Lemma 2.4, Proposition 2.3]).

Finally, in order to study the intersection of 20 Hassett divisors C_{d_k} such that all $d_k \equiv 2[6]$, We consider, for example, the rank 21 lattice M, generated by

$$< h^2, \alpha_1 + (0,1,0), \alpha_2 + (1,0,0), \sqrt{n_3}a_1 + (1,0,0), \sqrt{n_4}a_2 + (0,1,0), \sqrt{n_5}t_1^1 + (0,0,1), \sqrt{n_6}t_3^1 + (0,0,1), \sqrt{n_7}t_6^1 + (1,0,0), \sqrt{n_8}t_1^2 + (0,1,0), \sqrt{n_9}t_3^2 + (0,0,1), \sqrt{n_{10}}t_6^2 + (0,0,1), \sqrt{n_{11}}t_2^1 + (0,0,1), \sqrt{n_{12}}t_2^2 + (0,0,1), \sqrt{n_{13}}t_4^1 + (0,0,1), \sqrt{n_{14}}t_4^2 + (1,0,0), \sqrt{n_{15}}t_7^1 + (0,1,0), \sqrt{n_{16}}t_7^2 + (0,1,0), \sqrt{n_{17}}t_8^1 + (0,1,0), \sqrt{n_{18}}t_8^2 + (0,1,0), \sqrt{n_{19}}t_5^1 + (0,1,0), \sqrt{n_{20}}t_5^2 + (0,1,0) >.$$

The Gram matrix of M is:

$$\begin{pmatrix}
A & B \\
B^T & C
\end{pmatrix}$$

with

The lattice M is a positive definite saturated sublattice of L. For all $v \in M$, $(v,v) \neq 2 \,\forall n_1, n_2 \geq 1$, $n_k = \prod_i p_i^2$ with p_i a prime number for k = 3, ..., 20. Then, we consider rank 2 saturated sublattices $h^2 \in K_{d_i}$ of discriminant d_i in the same way as we did in the preceding cases. Therefore, by [63, Lemma 2.4, Proposition 2.3], $\emptyset \neq \mathcal{C}_M \subset \bigcap_{k=1}^{20} \mathcal{C}_{d_k} \neq \emptyset$ for all d_k satisfying (*) and d_k satisfying (**) for $k \geq 3$. In this case \mathcal{C}_M is a dimension zero subvariety of \mathcal{C} .

References

- [1] N. Addington. On two rationality conjectures for cubic fourfolds. Math. Res. Lett., 23(1):1-13, 2016.
- [2] N. Addington and F. Giovenzana. On the period of Lehn, Lehn, Sorger, and van Straten's symplectic eightfold. https://arxiv.org/pdf/2003.10984.pdf, 2020.
- [3] N. Addington, B. Hassett, Y. Tschinkel, and A. Várilly-Alvarado. Cubic fourfolds fibered in sextic del Pezzo surfaces. Amer. J. Math., 141(6):1479–1500, 2019.
- [4] N. Addington and R. Thomas. Hodge theory and derived categories of cubic fourfolds. Duke Math. J., 163(10):1885-1927, 2014.
- [5] Y. André. Pour une théorie inconditionnelle des motifs. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (83):5–49, 1996.
- [6] Y. André and B. Kahn. Nilpotence, radicaux et structures monoïdales. Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova, 108:107–291, 2002. With an appendix by Peter O'Sullivan.
- [7] A. Auel, M. Bernardara, and M. Bolognesi. Fibrations in complete intersections of quadrics, Clifford algebras, derived categories, and rationality problems. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 102(1):249-291, 2014.
- [8] A. Auel, M. Bernardara, M. Bolognesi, and A. Várilly-Alvarado. Cubic fourfolds containing a plane and a quintic del Pezzo surface. *Algebr. Geom.*, 1(2):181–193, 2014.
- [9] H. Awada. Rational fibered cubic fourfolds with nontrivial brauer classes, 2019.
- [10] H. Awada and M. Bolognesi. Unirationality of certain universal families of cubic fourfolds. arXiv preprint https://arxiv.org/abs/2001.01768, 2020.
- [11] J. Ayoub. The motivic vanishing cycles and the conservation conjecture. In Algebraic cycles and motives. Vol. 1, volume 343 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 3–54. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2007.

- [12] W. P. Barth, K. Hulek, C. A. M. Peters, and A. Van de Ven. Compact complex surfaces, volume 4 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 2004.
- [13] A. Beauville and R. Donagi. La variété des droites d'une hypersurface cubique de dimension 4. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 301(14):703-706, 1985.
- [14] M. Bernardara and M. Bolognesi. Categorical representability and intermediate Jacobians of Fano threefolds. In Derived categories in algebraic geometry, EMS Ser. Congr. Rep., pages 1–25. Eur. Math. Soc., Zürich, 2012.
- [15] M. Bolognesi and C. Pedrini. The transcendental motive of a cubic fourfold. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 224(8), 2020.
- [16] M. Bolognesi, F. Russo, and G. Staglianò. Some loci of rational cubic fourfolds. Math. Ann., 373(1-2):165–190, 2019.
- [17] T.-H. Bülles. Motives of moduli spaces on K3 surfaces and of special cubic fourfolds. Manuscripta Math., 161(1-2):109–124, 2020.
- [18] A. Căldăraru. Nonfine moduli spaces of sheaves on K3 surfaces. Int. Math. Res. Not., (20):1027-1056, 2002.
- [19] M. A. A. de Cataldo and L. Migliorini. The Chow groups and the motive of the Hilbert scheme of points on a surface. J. Algebra, 251(2):824–848, 2002.
- [20] H. Diaz. The motive of the Fano surface of lines. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 354(9):925-930, 2016.
- [21] S. Floccari, L. Fu, and Z. Zhang. On the motive of o'grady's ten-dimensional hyper-kähler varieties. to appear on Comm. Cont. Math., 2020.
- [22] L. Fu, R. Laterveer, and C. Vial. The generalized Franchetta conjecture for some hyper-Kähler varieties, II. Journal de l'École polytechnique — Mathématiques, 8:1065–1097, 2021.
- [23] W. Fulton. Intersection theory, volume 2 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- [24] A. Garbagnati and A. Sarti. Kummer surfaces and K3 surfaces with (Z/2Z)⁴ symplectic action. Rocky Mountain J. Math., 46(4):1141–1205, 2016.
- [25] S. Gorchinskiy and V. Guletskiĭ. Motives and representability of algebraic cycles on threefolds over a field. J. Algebraic Geom., 21(2):347–373, 2012.
- [26] D. R. Grayson and M. E. Stillman. Macaulay2, a software system for research in algebraic geometry. Available at http://www.math.uiuc.edu/Macaulay2/.
- [27] B. Hassett. Some rational cubic fourfolds. J. Algebraic Geom., 8(1):103-114, 1999.
- [28] B. Hassett. Special cubic fourfolds. Compositio Mathematica, 120:1–23, 01 2000.
- [29] B. Hassett. Cubic fourfolds, K3 surfaces, and rationality questions. In Rationality problems in algebraic geometry, volume 2172 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 29–66. Springer, Cham, 2016.
- [30] D. Huybrechts. Symplectic automorphisms of K3 surfaces of arbitrary finite order. Math. Res. Lett., 19(4):947–951, 2012.
- [31] C. Ingalls, A. Logan, and O. Patashnick. Explicit coverings of families of elliptic surfaces by square of curves. arXiv:2009.07807v1, 2020.
- [32] B. Kahn, J. P. Murre, and C. Pedrini. On the transcendental part of the motive of a surface. In Algebraic cycles and motives. Vol. 2, volume 344 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 143–202. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2007.
- [33] A. Kuznetsov. Derived categories of quadric fibrations and intersections of quadrics. Adv. Math., 218(5):1340– 1369, 2008.
- [34] A. Kuznetsov. Derived categories of cubic fourfolds. Cohomological and Geometric Approaches to Rationality Problems, page 219–243, Oct 2009.
- [35] A. Kuznetsov. Derived categories view on rationality problems. In *Rationality problems in algebraic geometry*, volume 2172 of *Lecture Notes in Math.*, pages 67–104. Springer, Cham, 2016.
- [36] R. Laterveer. A family of K3 surfaces having finite-dimensional motive. Arch. Math. (Basel), 106(6):515–524, 2016.
- [37] R. Laterveer. A remark on the motive of the Fano variety of lines of a cubic. Ann. Math. Qué., 41(1):141–154, 2017.
- [38] R. Laterveer. A family of cubic fourfolds with finite-dimensional motive. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 70(4):1453–1473,
- [39] R. Laterveer. Some cubics with finite-dimensional motive. Bol. Soc. Mat. Mex. (3), 24(2):319-327, 2018.
- [40] R. Laterveer. Algebraic cycles and very special cubic fourfolds. Indag. Math. (N.S.), 30(2):317–328, 2019.

- [41] R. Laza, G. Saccà, and C. Voisin. A hyper-Kähler compactification of the intermediate Jacobian fibration associated with a cubic 4-fold. Acta Math., 218(1):55–135, 2017.
- [42] C. Lehn, M. Lehn, C. Sorger, and D. van Straten. Twisted cubics on cubic fourfolds. J. Reine Angew. Math., 731:87–128, 2017.
- [43] C. Li, L. Pertusi, and X. Zhao. Elliptic quintics on cubic fourfolds, o'grady 10, and lagrangian fibrations. arXiv preprint: 2007.14108, 2020.
- [44] A. Massarenti. On the unirationality of quadric bundles. Adv. Math., 431:Paper No. 109235, 24, 2023.
- [45] C. Mazza. Schur functors and motives. K-Theory, 33(2):89–106, 2004.
- [46] D. R. Morrison. On K3 surfaces with large Picard number. Inventiones Mathematicae, 75:105, Jan. 1984.
- [47] K. Paranjape. Abelian varieties associated to certain K3 surfaces. Compositio Math., 68(1):11-22, 1988.
- [48] C. Pedrini. On the finite dimensionality of a K3 surface. Manuscripta Math., 138(1-2):59-72, 2012.
- [49] F. Russo and G. Staglianò. Trisecant flops, their associated k3 surfaces and the rationality of some fano fourfolds, 2019.
- [50] F. Russo and G. Staglianò. Congruences of 5-secant conics and the rationality of some admissible cubic fourfolds. Duke Math. J., 168(5):849–865, 2019.
- [51] G. Saccà. Birational geometry of the intermediate jacobian fibration of a cubic fourfold. arXiv preprint 2002.01420, 2020.
- [52] A. Sarti. Transcendental lattices of some K3-surfaces. Mathematische Nachrichten, 281:1031 1046, 07 2008.
- [53] U. Schlickewei. On the André motive of certain irreducible symplectic varieties. Geom. Dedicata, 156:141–149, 2012.
- [54] A. Soldatenkov. Deformation principle and andré motives of projective hyperkähler manifolds. arXiv preprint, https://arxiv.org/abs/1904.11320, 2019.
- [55] A.-K. Stegmann. Cubic fourfolds with ADE singularities and K3 surfaces. PhD thesis, Universität Hannover, 2020.
- [56] The Sage Developers. SageMath, the Sage Mathematics Software System (Version x.y.z), YYYY. https://www.sagemath.org.
- [57] A. N. Varchenko. Asymptotic behaviors of integrals, and Hodge structures. In Current problems in mathematics, Vol. 22, Itogi Nauki i Tekhniki, pages 130–166. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Vsesoyuz. Inst. Nauchn. i Tekhn. Inform., Moscow, 1983.
- [58] C. Vial. Algebraic cycles and fibrations. Doc. Math., 18:1521–1553, 2013.
- [59] V. Voevodsky. Triangulated categories of motives over a field. In Cycles, transfers, and motivic homology theories, volume 143 of Ann. of Math. Stud., pages 188–238. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 2000.
- [60] C. Voisin. Some aspects of the Hodge conjecture. Japanese Journal of Mathematics, 2:261-296, 09 2007.
- [61] C. Voisin. Abel-Jacobi map, integral Hodge classes and decomposition of the diagonal. J. Algebraic Geom., 22(1):141–174, 2013.
- [62] C. Voisin. Hyper-Kähler compactification of the intermediate Jacobian fibration of a cubic fourfold: the twisted case. In Local and global methods in algebraic geometry, volume 712 of Contemp. Math., pages 341–355. Amer. Math. Soc., [Providence], RI, [2018] ©2018.
- [63] S. Yang and X. Yu. Rational cubic fourfolds in Hassett divisors. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 358(2):129–137, 2020.
- [64] S. Yang and X. Yu. On lattice polarizable cubic fourfolds. arXiv preprint https://arxiv.org/abs/2103.09132, 2021

Institut Montpellierain Alexander Grothendieck, CNRS, Université de Montpellier, Case Courrier 051 - Place Eugène Bataillon, 34095 Montpellier Cedex 5 f, France

 $Email\ address:$ hanine.awada@umontpellier.fr

Institut Montpellierain Alexander Grothendieck, CNRS, Université de Montpellier, Case Courrier 051 - Place Eugène Bataillon, 34095 Montpellier Cedex 5, France

Email address: michele.bolognesi@umontpellier.fr

Dipartimento di Matematica, Università degli Studi di Genova, Via Dodecaneso 35, 16146 Genova, Italy

 $Email\ address: {\tt pedrini@dima.unige.it}$